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          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Good morning.

          3  This Committee of the City Council General Welfare

          4  Committee is called to order.

          5                 I would like to welcome my colleague,

          6  Annabel Palma, from the Bronx. I'm Council Member

          7  Bill DeBlasio of Brooklyn.

          8                 We're here today to talk about a

          9  growing problem in our City and one that is

         10  undermining the ability of struggling, low-income

         11  families to get one of the most basic of human

         12  rights - housing.

         13                 We're here to talk about Intro. 178,

         14  which I introduced because we've seen throughout the

         15  City a growth of a very troubling dynamic in which

         16  people who are legitimate holders of Section 8

         17  vouchers, are not able to get the housing they need.

         18                 I will just say this, as someone who

         19  used to work at the Department of Housing and Urban

         20  Development, and has worked in City government on

         21  different levels, that Section 8 has always been a

         22  program that has been one of the ultimate safety

         23  nets. It's always been a program that ensured that

         24  those in need could get affordable housing on the

         25  private market, and it provided a real opportunity
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          2  for landlords as well to get a constant stream of

          3  income, and what it did was basically ensure that

          4  there was a supply of affordable housing, even when

          5  the federal government stopped important initiatives

          6  like the development of public housing and the

          7  Mitchell Lama Program.

          8                 So, in an age where housing costs

          9  have significantly increased, and we've had tough

         10  economic times and the need for affordable housing

         11  has steadily increased, we've been left with fewer

         12  and fewer options.

         13                 Section 8 has been one of the only

         14  viable options for folks in need.

         15                 Well, what we found in recent years

         16  is even if someone had a Section 8 voucher

         17  legitimately, that did not guarantee that they would

         18  actually get the housing they need. And there's a

         19  lot of causes of this problem. But we have to make

         20  sure the City is doing everything in its power to

         21  protect the rights of those get Section 8. It would

         22  be a great irony if one of our few affordable

         23  housing programs left, one of the few programs that

         24  worked stopped working because a Section 8 voucher

         25  became worthless in the hands of those who held it.
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          2                 Now, let's look at just a couple of

          3  important recent studies.

          4                 NYCHA looked at the use of Section 8

          5  vouchers last year and found that as many as 4,000

          6  families who had Section 8 vouchers in New York City

          7  were unable to locate housing within the period of

          8  time that was allotted to them and have surrendered

          9  their vouchers.

         10                 We also have seen, in a national

         11  study by HUD in 2001, that the national rate of

         12  successful use of vouchers is only around 70

         13  percent. That meant 30 percent of the families that

         14  were able to get vouchers were unable to actually

         15  use them to get housing on a timely basis. So,

         16  again, it had no affect on those families. It meant

         17  that they might as well not have had the voucher.

         18                 And, once again, they were left out

         19  in the market, in the private marketplace, trying to

         20  find affordable housing in an environment that made

         21  that more and more difficult.

         22                 In 1999, the New York State Advisory

         23  Committee to the US Civil Rights Commission found

         24  that discriminating against Section 8 has become, "a

         25  more socially acceptable way to discriminate against
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          2  low-income, minority families."

          3                 Now, let me hasten to say, part of

          4  what makes me so frustrated here is that I know the

          5  Section 8 program can work, and I know it's one of

          6  the best tools that we have to help families in

          7  need.

          8                 I also know that the vast majority of

          9  landlords who participate in the program,

         10  participate honorably and see it as a virtue both to

         11  them and to their tenants.

         12                 What we're talking about today is the

         13  fact that there are some landlords who do not look

         14  at the situation that way, and that a dynamic is

         15  created where in fact someone who holds a Section 8

         16  voucher is treated as a second class citizen, and

         17  that a Section 8 voucher becomes a cause not to

         18  embrace someone but to turn them away and that's

         19  unacceptable in this day and age. That's why we need

         20  legislation to delineate so clearly that anyone who

         21  has a Section 8 voucher must be treated equally with

         22  anyone else seeking to rent an apartment.

         23                 Today we're going to hear from

         24  representatives from our government and a variety of

         25  advocacy groups and the landlords who are involved
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          2  in the Section 8 system, and we're going to hear, by

          3  the way, in the midst of this how complex this could

          4  be. Because while we're talking about the needs to

          5  protect the rights of the tenants, we also have to

          6  admit that there's a lot that needs to be improved

          7  in the Section 8 system all around.

          8                 I'm not sure anyone, whether it's the

          9  tenants or the landlords or the government is being

         10  all served by some of the complexities of the

         11  current system. And another thing we'd like to do

         12  today is hear about what we have to do to improve

         13  that system for everybody.

         14                 We're also going to hear about a

         15  situation that faces folks who have Section 8

         16  already who are in place in a building and then find

         17  their landlord no longer wants them there, and that

         18  also is something we have to address. I think this

         19  legislation takes a major step in that direction,

         20  because we've got to protect affordable housing,

         21  both on the front end of the process when someone is

         22  trying to get into an affordable unit and on the

         23  back end, when they're in an affordable unit, making

         24  sure that that unit does not leave the market and is

         25  no longer affordable.
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          2                 So, we have an important piece of

          3  work ahead of us today. The bottom line is, anyone

          4  who spent time looking at the issue of affordable

          5  housing in New York City knows that we desperately

          6  need to make sure the Section 8 Program works as

          7  well as possible.

          8                 We have to protect it in Washington,

          9  as well. It's under great threat right now in

         10  Washington, and if we don't generate some real

         11  activity soon, we bear the possibility that a

         12  Section 8 program will be radically cut back, and

         13  that will have a disproportionately negative impact

         14  in New York City and New York State.

         15                 So, while we're trying to protect the

         16  program overall, it's crucial that we protect the

         17  rights of those who hold Section 8 vouchers, and we

         18  make this system work better for all involved.

         19                 With that, I'd like to call forward

         20  two government representatives, or two agencies, I

         21  should say, the City Commission on Human Rights, and

         22  New York City Housing Authority.

         23                 And I believe Cliff Mulqueen will be

         24  here from the Commission, and Doug Apple and Gregory

         25  Kern from NYCHA.
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          2                 Welcome. Decide amongst yourselves

          3  who would like to go first.

          4                 All right, Cliff, you can bring that

          5  microphone down to earth. Bring them down. These

          6  microphones are so weird. They look like wheat

          7  growing in the field.

          8                 MR. MULQUEEN: Chairman DeBlasio,

          9  Council Member Palma, good morning. Thank you for

         10  the opportunity to testify today regarding Intro.

         11  No. 178, which proposes amending the New York City

         12  Human Rights Law to make it illegal for a housing

         13  provider to refuse to rent or otherwise dispose of

         14  their property to an individual who receives a rent

         15  subsidy or other form of public assistance.

         16                 The legislative intent specifically

         17  mentions Section 8, as did your comments this

         18  morning, and raises the question in my mind, raises

         19  a question as to why a landlord who voluntarily

         20  agreed to participate in this Section 8 voucher

         21  program would discriminate against voucher holders.

         22                 The Administration is concerned that

         23  this amendment requires all housing providers in New

         24  York City to participate in a federal program that

         25  until this proposal was voluntary. Requiring all
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          2  City landlords to participate in this program

          3  subjects them to a NYCHA inspection and forces them

          4  to abide by the program's housing quality standard,

          5  which control everything from the number of windows

          6  to the number of outlets a unit must have, who will

          7  pay the rent for the unit and cover the landlord's

          8  expenses while he or she is waiting to see if the

          9  unit is eligible for the Section 8 program.

         10                 Unless the landlord refuse other

         11  potential tenants while waiting approximately one

         12  month for determination of his or her eligibility to

         13  participate.

         14                 Additionally, certain landlords are

         15  prohibited from participating in the program.

         16  Included in this group are:

         17                 - landlords who have actions pending

         18  against them for violations of the Fair Housing Act,

         19  or any other federal EEO rules.

         20                 - landlords who have been previously

         21  found to have violated the Fair Housing Act or other

         22  EEO rules.

         23                 - landlords who have a history of

         24  building violations.

         25                 - landlords who fail to pay their
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          2  taxes, and the list goes on.

          3                 In order to determine whether a

          4  housing provider has discriminated against a Section

          5  8 voucher holder, the City Commission would first

          6  have to search the building records, the tax

          7  records, the federal court records, to determine if

          8  there are violations or cases pending against the

          9  owner.

         10                 We then have to determine whether or

         11  not the union would have met the housing quality

         12  standards imposed by the Section 8 program, and then

         13  interpret the federal rules to determine whether or

         14  not the housing provider was even eligible for the

         15  program in the first instance, all of which places

         16  an undue burden on the Human Rights Commission.

         17                 Lastly, we feel if this proposal

         18  comes dangerously close to making low-income

         19  individuals a protected class under the New York

         20  City's Human Rights Law.

         21                 Traditionally, in Federal, State and

         22  Administrative Courts, decisions based on valid

         23  financial concerns have been determined to be

         24  non-discriminatory. This proposal threatens that

         25  well-established case law and limits a land owner's
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          2  ability to make sound, financial decisions with

          3  regard to the disposition of his or her property.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Again, (a) for

          6  pithiness.

          7                 MR. APPLE: Good morning, Chairman

          8  DeBlasio, Councilwoman De Palma, and members of the

          9  Committee.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: It's Palma.

         11                 MR. APPLE: I'm sorry. I'm sorry,

         12  Councilwoman. I apologize for that. I do hope we get

         13  the chance to actually meet. We haven't done that

         14  yet.

         15                 I'm Doug Apple, the General Manager

         16  of the New York City Housing Authority, and I'm here

         17  to testify regarding Intro. 178.

         18                 Joining me is Greg Kern, our Director

         19  of Leased Housing for the Housing Authority.

         20                 To provide some background, let me

         21  begin by discussing NYCHA's current Section 8

         22  program.

         23                 NYCHA operates the largest Section 8

         24  program in the nation. As of March 31st, 2004,

         25  NYCHA's Section 8 program served approximately
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          2  220,000 residents using vouchers to rent 90,204

          3  Section 8 apartments from 29,316 private landlords.

          4                 This is the largest number of

          5  landlords ever participating in New York City's

          6  Section 8 program, and represents a more than nine

          7  percent increase in landlord participation over the

          8  last three years.

          9                 Our sister agency, Department of

         10  Housing Preservation and Development, oversees

         11  another 19,000 vouchers. Only the entire state of

         12  California and Texas encompass large Section 8

         13  programs than New York City.

         14                 The City's Section 8 program is among

         15  the most successful in the nation.

         16                 NYCHA and HPD's voucher utilization

         17  rate is at 100 percent. Over the last three years,

         18  NYCHA has made numerous improvements to the Section

         19  8 program in large part to attract landlords. As a

         20  result, landlords with available Section 8

         21  apartments want to participate in the program.

         22                 To encourage landlords to participate

         23  in the Section 8 program, NYCHA has implemented

         24  streamlined apartment inspection systems. Hand-held

         25  computers and an expedited approval process bring
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          2  new units into the program more quickly and

          3  efficiently.

          4                 The average between a landlord's

          5  request and inspector's appearance is now less than

          6  12 calendar days.

          7                 The total approval process for

          8  rentals or transfers from one apartment to another

          9  is now generally less than one month, with the

         10  landlord's receipt of the first payment following

         11  within another month.

         12                 The computerized system has also made

         13  annual inspections of occupied apartments faster and

         14  more efficient. This allows landlords more time to

         15  make repairs if violations are found so they have a

         16  better chance to avoid having apartments suspended

         17  from the program.

         18                 The number of suspensions have been

         19  greatly reduced and 50 percent of all repairs are

         20  accomplished without suspension at all, which

         21  benefits both the landlord and the tenant as well.

         22                 These improvements have been a real

         23  incentive for landlords to participate in Section 8.

         24  Numerous landlords are referring hundreds of their

         25  vacant apartments to Section 8 voucher holders.
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          2                 Nevertheless, as successful as the

          3  City's Section 8 program is, demand for vouchers far

          4  exceeds the supply. NYCHA's Section 8 waiting list

          5  contained 110,453 applicants at the end of last

          6  year. As you probably know, the Section 8 waiting

          7  list has been closed since 1994. With the exception

          8  of housing for the homeless and emergency housing,

          9  there is a 12-year average waiting period to secure

         10  voucher for those already on the list.

         11                 Of course, this is a reflection of

         12  the enormously tight real estate market in New York,

         13  especially for apartments renting for under $1,000,

         14  which have a vacancy rate of 1.8 percent.

         15                 It is therefore imperative that NYCHA

         16  attract and retain as many landlords as possible in

         17  our Section 8 program, which brings us to Intro.

         18  178.

         19                 We believe the Section 8 program is

         20  highly successful and that Intro. 178 would impede

         21  NYCHA's ability to maintain that success. While

         22  NYCHA supports the intention of the Intro to

         23  eliminate any possibility of discrimination against

         24  potential tenants solely because they hold Section 8

         25  vouchers, we question its necessity.
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          2                 It is possible that the legislation

          3  could have the unintended consequence of making

          4  fewer rather than more apartments available for

          5  Section 8 voucher holders.

          6                 In a very tight real estate market,

          7  NYCHA aggressively works with landlords to make the

          8  program more attractive.

          9                 Intro. 178 could have the opposite

         10  effect. Our recent improvements have served to

         11  simplify the process. Intro. 178 could add an

         12  unnecessary layer of bureaucracy on a very

         13  successful program.

         14                 Certainly, NYCHA wants to be sure

         15  that the Section 8 program works for everybody. But

         16  it is our view that is already the case, and there

         17  is no need for additional legislative action at this

         18  time.

         19                 We'd be happy to answer any questions

         20  you may have. Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         22  much. I want to thank both agencies for their

         23  testimony.

         24                 Let me start with Mr. Apple. To begin

         25  with, do you agree that we do have, despite, certain
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          2  the message of your testimony, I understand fully

          3  that you are trying to make the program work and you

          4  have a huge backlog and you are trying to maximize

          5  the number of landlords participating and I

          6  appreciate that very much. But do you agree that we

          7  have a problem of landlords turning away legitimate

          8  Section 8 holders; do you have a sense of that, is

          9  one of the problems we're facing in trying to make

         10  this system work?

         11                 MR. APPLE: I guess I would say,

         12  Councilman, that you are correct that our

         13  information does show that about seven out of every

         14  ten people who get a voucher are ultimately

         15  successful in finding an apartment.

         16                 It is our experience that the reasons

         17  that those 30 percent do not are widely varied. Many

         18  times people have an expectation about a location or

         19  building even and an apartment size that they want

         20  that doesn't really fit the program or their needs.

         21                 There are folks that, frankly, for a

         22  variety of reasons, and really as you know, you

         23  know, in your role as the head of the General

         24  Welfare Committee, there are many reasons why people

         25  are not successful in this process.
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          2                 We've done things trying to help

          3  people do that, and we'll continue to do that.

          4                 It is not our sense that there is an

          5  overwhelming number of people who are unable to find

          6  apartments or are rejected because landlords don't

          7  accept a voucher. We don't have the experience that

          8  that's a significant number.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Do you feel,

         10  and, again, I respect your answer, and certainly

         11  having worked in the housing field I know that

         12  sometimes the folks who are looking for an apartment

         13  do have undue expectations, and I think if anything

         14  it's gotten a lot harder in recent years.

         15                 MR. APPLE: And it has. That's true.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: At the same

         17  time, and I think it's fair to say, and we just had

         18  a very troubling hearing a few days ago on domestic

         19  violence issues and the use of Section 8 vouchers

         20  for domestic violence victims. And granted, that is

         21  a very, very particular area of public policy, and a

         22  very sad one. But what we've heard there correlates

         23  with what we've heard I think from a range of

         24  organizations for quite awhile, but sometimes even

         25  if a landlord is participating in the program, rit
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          2  large, that there can be an unwillingness to rent to

          3  a particular family, and what we're trying I think

          4  to get at here is, how do we, in the same vain that

          5  you're trying to make the program work, how do we

          6  try and ensure that there are not arbitrary choices

          7  about Section 8 holders. That a landlord is not

          8  turning away someone for the wrong reasons?

          9                 In the case of domestic violence,

         10  it's tragic, but there is no question that that has

         11  happened, that there's a lot of stereotypes about

         12  domestic violence that are causing landlords to

         13  think they are protecting themselves and their

         14  fellow tenants. That's a whole other area, and one

         15  that we have a lot of work to do on. I know Cliff is

         16  going to be helping us in that endeavor. But I think

         17  we've heard so many reports, and families, and let's

         18  face it, we're talking about low-income families and

         19  families that often experience discrimination on a

         20  lot of other fronts, not being able to use their

         21  vouchers effectively. The reason we moved forward

         22  this legislation was the concern that there is an

         23  arbitrariness occurring, you know, part of some

         24  landlords, and I can't emphasize enough, it is a

         25  minority of landlords, but on the part of some
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          2  landlords, that may mirror the kind of arbitrariness

          3  we've seen in the past that led to the need for

          4  legislative remedies.

          5                 So, I guess I'm saying even if you

          6  think there are other problems that might be more

          7  important, do you not agree that right now that is a

          8  possibility and that there is the openness there for

          9  a landlord to make a choice within the system, and

         10  probably not suffer much in the way of any negative

         11  outcome, if, in fact, they do turn away a valid

         12  Section 8 voucher holder.

         13                 MR. APPLE: Well, as you know,

         14  Councilman, Section 8 was originally conceived as

         15  kind of, in some ways is a free-market program, that

         16  it's effectiveness is giving people options in terms

         17  of where to go, and we've actually found that people

         18  go to many different neighborhoods.

         19                 I would be concerned, though I will

         20  not suggest that there are no instances of this,

         21  that's not worth suggesting.

         22                 I do believe that there probably are

         23  very few, but I'm sure there are some cases, maybe

         24  it's in the handful in a program of 90,000 families.

         25  So, if it's, you know, one-tenth of one percent,
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          2  does the legislative remedy deal with that one-tenth

          3  of one percent, and then what impact does that have

          4  on the other 99.9 percent of participants in the

          5  program. And we are concerned, though we do sort of

          6  agree with you that obviously we would like the

          7  world to be non-discriminatory. We would want to see

          8  landlords fairly review the application of an

          9  individual based upon who they are, what their past

         10  history is and all the factors that landlords always

         11  consider, and not take into account the Section 8

         12  voucher as a definitive dispositive decision on

         13  whether to rent or not. But in those very few

         14  selected instances, I think there may be some other

         15  remedy we could talk about as opposed to having a

         16  broad brush legislative approach that may actually

         17  have the impact of hurting more people than it

         18  helps. That would be our concern.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me ask you,

         20  on this 30 percent non-success rate --

         21                 MR. APPLE: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Have you been

         23  able to track that specifically?

         24                 You've given me a couple ideas about

         25  why you think it's so high, and I think we would say
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          2  in this housing market, on the one hand you could

          3  say, well, the market is so tight; on the other than

          4  you can say, well, the demand is so great, that

          5  having 30 percent go utilized and passed on, we're

          6  probably leading some people in the lurch there,

          7  whether we meant to or not. And I would dare say

          8  probably the people with less capacity to navigate

          9  the market are the ones who often get left behind,

         10  an those are in fact the folks who probably need the

         11  help the most.

         12                 So, have you been able to specify

         13  what that 30 percent rate is, if you could track it

         14  and break it down? I contend that the concerns we're

         15  raising are a substantial part of it. You think they

         16  are not.

         17                 Do you have anything empirical to

         18  back that up?

         19                 MR. APPLE: Actually, it's a good

         20  question, it's frankly one that I've asked Greg Kern

         21  who really runs the program on a day-to-day basis.

         22  Unfortunately, we don't have any sort of dispositive

         23  statistics. I can't tell you of the hundred people

         24  who didn't find an apartment that 70 for this reason

         25  and 20, you know, the various reasons. But certainly
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          2  staff, really what they hear from those voucher

          3  holders. Because we actually have a very significant

          4  process. They have initially, usually we give them

          5  up to six months to find an apartment, and during

          6  that period there is communication. They may be

          7  calling us, asking certain questions. We may be sort

          8  of giving them some assistance, and I think the

          9  overwhelming reason seems to be really that people,

         10  and this is a New York thing that we all deal with,

         11  people really want to stay in their neighborhood,

         12  wherever their neighborhood might be, and in some

         13  cases there may be a limited inventory of

         14  apartments, or there may be a limited inventory of

         15  apartments that are available at that point in time.

         16  You know, the vacancy rate for apartments under

         17  $1,000, which is really the target I would suggest

         18  in a Section 8 program, is 1.8 percent. And that,

         19  frankly, is a turnover over a course of a year, so

         20  at any point in time there may be very few, if any,

         21  apartments available in a particular neighborhood,

         22  and we often encourage residents to go to another

         23  neighborhood, but that's difficult for people, if

         24  their home is in a neighborhood, if that's where all

         25  their services are. I understand their desire to
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          2  stay where they are.

          3                 So, I do think it's a fair question,

          4  and one we can sort of spend some time. Maybe we can

          5  do some analysis, and kind of work with you to sort

          6  of get a better handle on that, because it's a fair

          7  question.

          8                 The other thing I would say is that

          9  at this point in time a big focus of the Bloomberg

         10  Administration, obviously, is dealing with the

         11  City's growing shelter population. You know, we have

         12  over 9,000 families, as you know, in shelter at this

         13  point in time. The Section 8 program has been

         14  tremendously effective in moving people out of

         15  shelter into permanent housing. And that's really

         16  been done. I can't take any credit for this. The

         17  credit goes to the Department of Homeless Services

         18  and Commissioner Gibbs, and they really go out and

         19  find apartments, and I know their experience, if

         20  they're able to find apartments, for residents that

         21  are in the shelter system.

         22                 So, I do believe that apartments,

         23  though difficult to find with appropriate assistance

         24  are available, one of the challenges is being able

         25  to provide that assistance to that group that has a
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          2  difficult time.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: In a moment

          4  I'll see if Council Member Palma has questions, but

          5  let me, if she will indulge me a little bit longer

          6  here.

          7                 I appreciate your answer, but, again,

          8  I guess what I'd say is, we all need to look a

          9  little more closely at the dynamic, because, again,

         10  if you don't have a current analysis that suggests

         11  that what I will call sort of arbitrary

         12  decision-making on the part of certain landlords is

         13  not a part of this problem. Then, you know, we're

         14  sort of at a point where both of us are trying to

         15  look at this from our own perspective, but no one

         16  has anything definitive.

         17                 We believe there is a pattern here

         18  that is worthy of action. We're certainly open to

         19  making this legislation as effective as it can be.

         20  But 30 percent is a high enough rate that it begs

         21  the question of what's happening in the actual

         22  interactions between certain landlords and certain

         23  tenants.

         24                 I would also just ask a parenthetical

         25  question, that if you're finding your central
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          2  problem is getting people to look beyond their own

          3  neighborhood, is there any kind of assistance that's

          4  being provided to sort of jumpstart that, rather

          5  than letting someone have the voucher and sort of

          6  run out the period of time they have it, working on

          7  a mission in vain, if you will, is there some effort

          8  to help them understand their neighborhood is a

          9  viable place to look or not? What's your current

         10  practice in that area?

         11                 MR. APPLE: Well, I guess this is

         12  where the discussion of the budget will have to come

         13  in.

         14                 We actually had previously a process

         15  that included the use of brokers, and we still have

         16  selectively that process in place. And this is for

         17  non-homeless, people not moving out of shelter

         18  systems, people that get vouchers that are in other

         19  categories. And sometimes brokers can be an

         20  effective way of helping people find apartments

         21  because they know communities, they know

         22  neighborhoods.

         23                 We also, frankly, had a plan that we

         24  now have had to put on hold, and actually have a

         25  contractor, a non-profit, that was going to work
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          2  with us, and work with these, call it the 30

          3  percent, on search systems, on giving them more

          4  proactive strategies in different neighborhoods.

          5                 We actually put out an RFP but have

          6  yet to award a contract, looking at Greg, and

          7  unfortunately, we're now faced with a fiscal reality

          8  that may not allow us to continue that.

          9                 We, as you probably know, have a

         10  reduction in funding from Washington that threatens

         11  our ability to continue to provide current voucher

         12  holders with vouchers.

         13                 We're working very closely with, you

         14  know, our congressional delegation, HUD officials,

         15  and certainly would welcome your assistance in

         16  trying to resolve those issues with Washington, but

         17  given the uncertainty of funding level,

         18  unfortunately we're not able at this point to enter

         19  into a contract, which would do exactly what you're

         20  suggesting.

         21                 Because what we do agree on is it is

         22  a, you know, sort of a bad use of resources, to put

         23  it maybe in one way, to give someone a voucher and

         24  they're not successful. It would be much better if

         25  there was 100 percent success rate with a voucher.
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          2  Probably you'll never get to 100, but to do better

          3  than 70 would absolutely be a goal of ours. And we

          4  believe that if, with effective intervention, from

          5  really an organization that we think actually had

          6  both a housing background, but also a social service

          7  background. Because I do believe, and this is

          8  something that I would like to certainly talk more

          9  about, that a lot of the issues that cause people

         10  not to be successful, have to do with broader issues

         11  in a family or other dynamics. Unfortunately, at

         12  this point that contract is on hold, pending the

         13  resolution of some of these fiscal issues we're

         14  facing in Washington.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I welcome

         16  Council Member Quinn, who, like me, has long worked

         17  on tenant issues. I'm sure she has some strong views

         18  on this as well.

         19                 So, I want to ask you also about the

         20  situation of current Section 8 holders who actually

         21  have an apartment and the changes that might be

         22  occurring on that front. But let me just finish on

         23  the previous.

         24                 MR. APPLE: Sure.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, I think we
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          2  do have common ground when we say if people get a

          3  voucher and cannot find appropriate housing in the

          4  time frame, then what we've managed to inadvertently

          5  do there is tie up that voucher, a family is not

          6  getting housing, that is left out in the ether

          7  there.

          8                 MR. APPLE: Yes, we would agree.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I think we

         10  would agree that often there is some correlation

         11  between folks who can't find the apartment in that

         12  time frame and the capacity level they have to

         13  navigate the market.

         14                 And, again, I am concerned, and I saw

         15  this in the time I spent at HUD, that it's often the

         16  folks who are, God bless them, most clever about the

         17  system who prevail, and the folks who are at least

         18  going for them who don't, and, again, that

         19  correlates with the concern we have about the

         20  possibility of discrimination. Even if they are, by

         21  no means the majority of the cases, and we're very

         22  happy that we're not suggesting there is

         23  discrimination in the majority of cases. We're

         24  saying from the beginning that this is not an

         25  overwhelming phenomenon, but it's a phenomenon that
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          2  affects a number of people, and I still believe it's

          3  a substantial part of why we don't have a higher

          4  rate of success in terms of people using their

          5  vouchers in the first instance.

          6                 Let me ask you about --

          7                 MR. APPLE: One thing I would say, if

          8  I could, and you probably know this from your

          9  experience at HUD as well, we actually have a much

         10  higher success rate, if you want to call it that,

         11  than many other cities, that frankly have "softer"

         12  real estate markets. So, you know, it's a fair

         13  question to ask, and I agree with you, we would be

         14  both better served if we actually had real

         15  statistics. And I would certainly commit to you that

         16  that's something we will be doing, and certainly

         17  like to talk to you about doing that.

         18                 But given, though, we both agree 70

         19  percent should be higher, that 70 percent is higher

         20  than many other cities.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I appreciate

         22  that. And I think it's well known that your

         23  administration of the program is highly regarded

         24  throughout the country, and certainly by HUD.

         25                 I would say we should combine forces

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  between NYCHA and human rights and the Council, and

          3  some of the groups represented today that do

          4  advocacy work in the community, and organizations

          5  that represent landlords, we should combine forces.

          6                 I think there is a common interest in

          7  ensuring that discrimination is not a part of this

          8  program, and I think the more we could pool reports

          9  and the trends that we're hearing about, and look at

         10  the part of this that can be attacked with public

         11  policy, the better off we'll be.

         12                 MR. APPLE: We would agree. Glad to be

         13  part of that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         15                 Let me ask you about, the folks that

         16  have vouchers are in place in a building, then the

         17  landlord, for whatever reason, decides that they no

         18  longer want to participate in the program, or they

         19  no longer want that tenant in their building. And

         20  this is a subset piece of this problem, and one, and

         21  I'll ask Cliff the same problem in a moment, that I

         22  think is a particular area where discrimination

         23  could be a possibility.

         24                 What are you doing in instances where

         25  landlords no longer want to participate, either rit
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          2  large, or with an individual tenant?

          3                 MR. APPLE: Yes, you're right. Let's

          4  talk about an individual lease holder.

          5                 When we have a Section 8 voucher

          6  holder, they essentially have two different

          7  agreements. One, and let's take the case of

          8  rent-stabilized unit, because the vast majority of

          9  our Section 8 voucher holders are in rent stabilized

         10  units. They have a rent stabilized lease, which we

         11  all know is governed by State law. And they also

         12  have what's called in the nomenclature, a HAP,

         13  Housing Assistance Payment Contract. There is a

         14  contract essentially between NYCHA and the landlord,

         15  that I have to look at the expert here, that defines

         16  the amount of the subsidy, how much we'll be paid by

         17  the Housing Authority, and what the rent share of

         18  the tenant shall be.

         19                 Separately, the landlord has a lease

         20  with that individual, a rent stabilized lease, which

         21  as you know is either a one-, or two-year lease.

         22                 Rent Stabilization Law in New York

         23  State does not give the landlord the right to

         24  terminate the lease without cost. We take the policy

         25  position that the contract goes along with the
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          2  lease, and that the landlord must continue both the

          3  lease and the HAP contract.

          4                 So, our position is, and we have

          5  again I think a very few number of instances that

          6  this has come up, but in the few cases I think that

          7  it came up, I think Greg was trying to recount, and

          8  I think he was thinking ten to 15 in the last year.

          9  So, of our 90,000 contracts, ten or 15 we did have a

         10  specific instance where a landlord wanted to

         11  terminate a lease in a HPA contract, again, not for

         12  cause, if there is, obviously, a landlord/tenant

         13  issue, that's Housing Court review and that goes

         14  through Housing Court. But other than that we take

         15  the position and we tell the landlord, you cannot

         16  terminate the lease and not terminate the subsidy.

         17                 Now, I think what happens is this

         18  gets very complicated, because you'll hear other

         19  cases. For example, there's another program, really,

         20  as you know, run by HUD, HUD in the multi-family

         21  world runs a program for project-based vouchers,

         22  which is another discussion we can have separately,

         23  but what will happen is sometimes those are

         24  separate, those are contracts with HUD that

         25  landlords decide they don't want to continue, they
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          2  have the right at the end of the contract. That's a

          3  whole different set of circumstances.

          4                 So, I have a feeling as we look to

          5  individual cases, you may find a mix that aren't

          6  necessarily NYCHA Section 8 voucher holders, and I

          7  know that if there was a case, and certainly we

          8  would be interested in looking at specific cases

          9  that we're not aware of, because it's possible a

         10  landlord may be taking action, if the tenant hasn't

         11  come to us, the tenant has said to us my landlord is

         12  trying to evict me, we may not be aware of that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, a couple

         14  of points here. First of all, project-based Section

         15  8 of course has its own world, to say the least.

         16  And, so, in the case of individual voucher holders,

         17  you point out something that we deal with every day

         18  in New York City government, is what don't we hear

         19  about. And I always say to folks, when you think

         20  about the complexity of the City, when you think

         21  about income levels, education levels, language

         22  barriers, there's probably a lot we never know, in

         23  terms of tracking the patterns, there's a lot that

         24  happens, and people go on with their lives, even if

         25  something unfair has happened to them, and I think
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          2  we all have to do a better job of digging down and

          3  finding out what is happening if we want to address

          4  these issues fairly.

          5                 But specifically, the front end you

          6  said, and I certainly understood it, you're

          7  desperately trying to get more and more landlords

          8  involved in the program, I respect that.

          9                 Are you saying in terms of individual

         10  voucher holders, you're not finding a problem of

         11  landlords no longer wanting to be part of the

         12  program who have been participating and neither are

         13  you finding a problem of individual tenants having

         14  landlords asking them to no longer be a part of the

         15  program?

         16                 MR. APPLE: I guess Greg was just

         17  drawing a distinction for me. It differs between, as

         18  I talked about the regulated market, there is also

         19  the non-regulated market, right? That's a slightly

         20  different set of legal issues, and those legal

         21  issues drive those policy decisions.

         22                 Legally, in a non-stabilized

         23  building, as you know, which is less than six units

         24  in New York, landlords have essentially broader

         25  rights in terms of how that program is administered,
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          2  and that might be an issue specifically. But, again,

          3  we're not finding it in significant number of cases.

          4  A little more on the non-stabilized side, and that

          5  could be, again, something that we would want to

          6  look at individually.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: When you say a

          8  few hundred, and feel free if you'd like to address

          9  this directly, when you say a few hundred, you mean

         10  a few hundred individuals whose landlord ask them to

         11  leave, or are you saying a few hundred landlords who

         12  no longer want to participate?

         13                 MR. KERN: Councilman, it could be

         14  both. In the non-regulated you can have a situation

         15  where the landlord wants the tenant to leave the

         16  unit, or the landlord is willing to let the tenant

         17  stay, but no longer wants to participate in Section

         18  8.

         19                 Either way, the landlord can notify

         20  the tenant and us that the landlord does not want to

         21  renew the HAP contract for Section 8 participation.

         22                 We take the position that the

         23  landlord can do that in a non-regulated situation.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But they are

         25  obligated to fulfill the current lease?
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          2                 MR. KERN: Yes. Pursuant to State law,

          3  that would be enforced in Housing Court.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Now, but I

          5  presume in the same vain as you say you're

          6  aggressively trying to add landlords, if you have

          7  several hundred landlords a year who are choosing,

          8  for whatever reasons, good or bad, and no longer

          9  want to participate, do you have a response? Is

         10  there an effort to change their minds, or to work

         11  through whatever problems they're having? How does

         12  that work?

         13                 MR. APPLE: Absolutely. One thing

         14  we're really done aggressively in the last couple of

         15  years, and I really credit Greg really with this, is

         16  that we have really been trying to outreach to

         17  landlords, small landlords and the large landlords.

         18  Because I do think there is sort of a long history

         19  around the Section 8 program. It's been successful

         20  in New York for many years. But I also think

         21  certainly when I came to NYCHA about three years

         22  ago, I heard a lot from landlords about real

         23  concerns about the program. I haven't been paid for

         24  months. It takes months to get an inspection. You do

         25  an inspection, you find a minor violation, you don't
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          2  tell me until the very end of the time period I have

          3  to fix it, so I have no chance to fix it. You then

          4  cut off my subsidy. You know, those were general

          5  problems, and those problems affect both landlords

          6  and tenants. Because, frankly, if there is not a

          7  regular relationship there, the tenant becomes more

          8  at risk, in terms of a loss of subsidy could result

          9  in a loss of the apartment. We don't want to see

         10  that happen for anybody, so we believe the better

         11  the program works, the better it is for everybody.

         12  We've spent a lot of time trying to improve the

         13  quality of the program, trying to be more responsive

         14  to both tenants and landlords, in terms of getting

         15  payments out, being responsive in terms of

         16  inspection. Because that's a key thing, if there is

         17  a violation in an apartment, we want to know it.

         18  Because we think it doesn't serve a tenant well, if

         19  there's a violation that hasn't been remedied, so

         20  what we do is we now do inspections more promptly,

         21  we get landlords information accurately and quickly.

         22  And as we said in our testimony, 50 percent of the

         23  time we are able to get the repair done before

         24  suspending the subsidy, so we get immediate repairs.

         25  I will contrast that with two years ago where that
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          2  was zero, and that was zero. So, 50 percent could be

          3  better, I agree, but it's a tremendous stride.

          4                 So, we're really done things with

          5  small landlords particularly, where there's a small

          6  landlords association that I personally met with a

          7  number of times. We had actually at the Brooklyn

          8  Marriot one snowy day, unfortunately, in February,

          9  we did a fair for landlords. Even in the snow

         10  hundreds of landlords came.

         11                 And we actually would like to

         12  continue that, because we actually think the best

         13  strategy is to really make, especially small

         14  landlords, understand the benefits of the program.

         15                 We think there are real benefits for

         16  landlords and for tenants that keeps people in their

         17  community. It actually is in some ways, I would

         18  argue, almost an economic development engine in a

         19  neighborhood. It gives landlords available money on

         20  a steady basis to do repairs to their building, to

         21  do upgrades, and we actually think it helps

         22  stabilize neighborhoods. So, there is an effort to

         23  do, and I'd like to do more, in terms of making the

         24  program successful, and kind of marketing it to

         25  people. But that part of the challenge we both face,
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          2  absolutely.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Cliff, in the

          4  same vain, does the Commission have any concern

          5  about what happens in the type of dynamic we're

          6  talking about here where a landlord chooses to no

          7  longer either participate in the program, or to no

          8  longer have a tenant in their building? Is there any

          9  concern about possible discriminatory elements of

         10  that decision-making?

         11                 MR. MULQUEEN: Obviously if someone

         12  came to us with a complaint we would look at it, but

         13  when you're speaking about a landlord, who, for

         14  whatever reason, doesn't want a particular tenant in

         15  his or her building generally, that would mean that

         16  it's not something that's discriminatory in general,

         17  it's really just something that's particular to that

         18  individual. For whatever reason that relationship is

         19  strained and that landlord no longer wants them

         20  there, so even if this was to pass into law, I don't

         21  know that that would necessarily give rise to a

         22  human rights complaint, and especially in a

         23  circumstance where there are other units in the

         24  building that have Section 8 voucher holders, it

         25  would be very difficult to say that the landlord is
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          2  discriminating against Section 8 voucher holders.

          3  The landlord, for whatever reason, is discriminating

          4  against a particular individual and it may be

          5  lawful. So, it would be difficult to prove that

          6  case.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And in terms of

          8  housing discrimination, what are you seeing broadly,

          9  what are the most typical categories that you find

         10  that you're pursuing as an agency, in terms of

         11  housing discrimination?

         12                 MR. MULQUEEN: A lot of the complaints

         13  come to us are race. We have mostly race. And a lot

         14  of times it's determined to be more of a landlord

         15  tenant, where there's some issue with the tenant not

         16  paying rent, and that's really the reason the

         17  landlord was trying to evict them. So, most of our

         18  -- I don't know that we've had any cases that we

         19  found probable cause for.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         21                 Well, I stole Anabell Palma's

         22  question. I apologize.

         23                 We want to thank you for your

         24  testimony. Again, this is the first hearing, we have

         25  a lot of work we want to do together, but I want to
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          2  challenge everyone in the room to help us figure out

          3  the reality of day-to-day life in the Section 8

          4  system, particularly for those who do not succeed.

          5  And, again, when we come back for the next hearing,

          6  my collegial challenge to you is to bring us a

          7  breakout to help us understand your perspective on

          8  it, because I think to the extent it's gray, we have

          9  to assume based on the many reports we receive that

         10  some part of this might be discrimination and that's

         11  what we would -- if we have to air on the side of

         12  anything here, it should be airing on the side of

         13  fighting discrimination.

         14                 MR. APPLE: And I think you're right,

         15  Councilman, we really do share the same goal in

         16  making the program more effective for low-income New

         17  Yorkers. And I certainly will be glad to work with

         18  you between hearings here in the future on these

         19  issues, absolutely.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         21                 MR. APPLE: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, now we

         23  would like to call up someone who has had first-hand

         24  experience with the program and has faced some of

         25  the difficulties in it. Portia Inniss. Is Portia
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          2  Inniss here? And Nancy Duran.

          3                 Ms. Inniss, we want to thank you very

          4  much for joining us today and taking the time to do

          5  so.

          6                 We know you have an important story

          7  to tell, and please feel free to tell us what your

          8  experience has been with the Section 8 program.

          9                 MS. INNISS: Well, I've -- I'm Portia.

         10  I've been living in my building for 29 years, and

         11  I've been on Section 8 maybe about 15 or 16 years.

         12  I'm raising my grandson, he's ten. In August of last

         13  year the landlord said he was opting out the

         14  program. As we speak he's accepting my portion of

         15  the rent but he's sending back, Sending Section 8,

         16  their portion, back.

         17                 There are other tenants. There is

         18  quite a few of us. The whole building is not Section

         19  8, but there's quite a few of us in this building on

         20  Section 8, and a couple of them, they're like

         21  running, the landlords really have us, like,

         22  babbling idiots trying to find -- I don't have any

         23  place to go so I can't run. That's why I'm here. I

         24  have absolutely nowhere to go. I've had my grandson

         25  since he was a toddler.
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          2                 I have to take -- I mean, I don't

          3  have it. My rent as is, if I had to pay the full

          4  rent, it would be 810, 810.92. I don't get but $724

          5  on Social Security, because I'm living on Social

          6  Security now. So, I don't know what I'm supposed to

          7  do here.

          8                 If you guys could help us do

          9  something, I have no idea what we're supposed to do.

         10  I raised my kids there, you know, I'm raising my

         11  grandson there. I've never had a problem there until

         12  now. The landlord has had the building for about

         13  maybe three and a half, four years. Maybe you guys

         14  can help us.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Tell us more

         16  about the relationship with the landlord. What was

         17  it like when the landlord first came in? You know,

         18  were the payments in Section 8 occurring on time, et

         19  cetera?

         20                 MS. INNISS: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And then what

         22  changed? Can you tell us?

         23                 MS. INNISS: As far as I know, the

         24  payments were always on time. When he came in, he

         25  came in like he was a God-send because the landlord
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          2  before him had almost destroyed the property. So, he

          3  came in with cosmetic surgery, and, you know,

          4  cosmetic make-up in the front. He was always

          5  accessible, because we used to talk.

          6                 At one point he asked me how much

          7  would I charge him for my apartment? At that time I

          8  was living in the apartment 26 years, and I said

          9  where am I going to go if I sell it to you? And that

         10  was the end of that conversation. All of this last

         11  year, we got the letter stating that he was opting

         12  out.  Everybody whose Section 8 lease who is coming

         13  up he was opting out. He wasn't going to accept

         14  Section 8 anymore. Of course, we went to Section 8.

         15  Section 8 said that they really didn't have that

         16  right. But in February, I think, February or March

         17  -- February, he sent me a dispossess -- eviction

         18  notice. Not dispossess; eviction notice. And I had

         19  to go to court March 1st because he wanted me out,

         20  because he was cashing my side, but he was sending

         21  me an eviction notice for the money he was sending

         22  back to the government.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And, again, you

         24  made your payments on time regular.

         25                 MS. INNISS: On time, regular.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And he never

          3  complained to you about not getting payments on

          4  time?

          5                 MS. INNISS: No. No.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And what about

          7  from NYCHA, the Section 8 payments?

          8                 MS. INNISS: As far as I know, he

          9  never told me that it was late. As far as I know it

         10  was on time all the time.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You and he

         12  never had a problem around the apartment in any way?

         13                 MS. INNISS: No, never.

         14                 Like I said, we used to talk. He was

         15  sociable in the beginning. I'd see him outside. I

         16  might stand outside to wait for my grandson to come

         17  from school or something, he'd be there, we'd stand

         18  and talk. We was talking about the improvements he

         19  was making on the outside of the building. The

         20  inside is not that much improved. We haven't had

         21  heat for the last two cold winters.

         22                 I mean, minimal heat. We had minimal

         23  heat. And I have never had a problem with him.

         24                 In January, it was myself and two

         25  other ladies, who, by the way, have gone. They have
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          2  gone. One lady will be gone in June, the other is

          3  gone already.

          4                 We went to Section 8 and between the

          5  three of us we had about 150 years in that building.

          6  And this is what he's doing. Because 29 years, my 29

          7  years with the building, next door, the old timers,

          8  I'm like low man on the totem pole, and he's trying

          9  to get rid of us.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But did he ever

         11  complain to you about anything? Did he ever tell you

         12  why he didn't want to be part of the Section 8?

         13                 MS. INNISS: Never. No, just that we

         14  was -- because I called the office one time, I think

         15  I spoke to his son. I said, "what are you doing? Why

         16  are you going to do this to us?" He said, oh, we're

         17  just not going to take it anymore. We have a right

         18  not to take it anymore. That was it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And what do you

         20  think you would do, if you no longer had this

         21  apartment?

         22                 MS. INNISS: I don't know. I would

         23  live literally in the street. I have nowhere to go.

         24  As we speak, I have nowhere to go, and I don't know

         25  what I would do. I have no idea.
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          2                 I dread the thought of having to go

          3  in the shelter, you know. I can't live in the

          4  street, I have my grandson. I don't know what I

          5  would do. I hope that something can happen positive

          6  to help myself as well as everybody else in the City

          7  who is being kicked around, you know. I don't

          8  understand it. I don't understand it. It's simply

          9  that I just don't understand.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, please

         11  stay there. I want to hear from Ms. Duran as well,

         12  but I want to thank you. This is a very powerful

         13  example, and we do want to help you individually,

         14  but we also want to help everyone, hopefully, by

         15  finding something legislatively  that will help to

         16  work on this problem. But we certainly are going to

         17  work with you personally to make sure we can help

         18  protect you and your grandson.

         19                 MS. INNISS: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Ms. Duran, why

         21  don't you tell us your story?

         22                 MS. DURAN: I've been living at 2515

         23  University Avenue for 18 years and my family. And my

         24  landlord waited for my lease to expire in February,

         25  and he sent me a letter stating that he was no
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          2  longer taking Section 8 in April, some time in

          3  April. My lease had already expired when he sent

          4  this letter, and I told him, why did he wait til my

          5  lease expired and then send me that letter stating

          6  that he was going to make those changes.

          7                 He said, well, those are the changes

          8  that I'm making now, and you're going to have to

          9  find somewhere to live.

         10                 So, I told him, you know, in such a

         11  short time I can't find a place to live. No time at

         12  all, like six months. And I'm like, my sister is in

         13  school, I'm in school, you know, then she babysits,

         14  you know, you know, so we can have our little things

         15  and stuff, then she has food stamps, you know so we

         16  can have food in the house. I babysit my

         17  granddaughter from Monday through Friday, and that's

         18  my income to pay my bills. Plus, through my

         19  standing, my Avon and whatever I make from there,

         20  you know, I try to pay my bills and stuff like that.

         21  And I told him that it is ridiculous, you know, him

         22  making those changes like that. I think they're

         23  living 18 years, I never cost him any problem. I'm

         24  trying to raise my children the right way, and I

         25  don't know what are those changes for all of a
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          2  sudden.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Did your

          4  landlord ever complain about any problem?

          5                 MS. DURAN: Well, there's a lot of

          6  things to be done in the apartment. Every time I

          7  would complain about anything, he would just ignore

          8  me and be very nasty about it, because he don't like

          9  people that are on Section 8. He doesn't really

         10  particularly like them because they complain about

         11  whatever needs to be done in the apartment. So

         12  there's that human being, and I guess that's not

         13  what he likes. And if you would call HPD and tell

         14  them, you know, there needs to be repairs or living

         15  under certain conditions, and the inspectors will

         16  come to the house and see the conditions at the

         17  apartment, he will get very upset.

         18                 MS. C. DURAN: Say a repair needed to

         19  be done. He won't, you know, give money or whatever,

         20  he won't get the job done, and he has the nerve, you

         21  know, to give us such a short amount of time, you

         22  know, to leave.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Can you

         24  identify yourself for the record.

         25                 MS. C. DURAN: My name is Clarissa
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          2  Duran. I'm her daughter. Excuse me.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's okay.

          4                 And was there ever any problem with

          5  either rent payments or payments from Section 8?

          6  Were there any delays?

          7                 MS. C. DURAN: No, he would always get

          8  his on time.

          9                 MS. DURAN: His portion on time, and

         10  as my half, too, he would always get it early.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Did he ever

         12  complain about not getting it? Did he ever say I'm

         13  having a problem not getting it?

         14                 MS. DURAN: No.

         15                 MS. C. DURAN: He goes personally to

         16  his office and his rental payment.

         17                 MS. DURAN: To pay the rent, yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: What do you

         19  think you would do if you no longer had this

         20  apartment?

         21                 MS. DURAN: Oh, it would be really

         22  scary, because I don't have a family. My own family

         23  is my three children and my granddaughter, and I

         24  have nowhere else to go. And it's really scary to be

         25  out there without any place to go.
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          2                 MS. C. DURAN: Hard.

          3                 MS. DURAN: Very hard. Because I'm a

          4  single parent. I'm trying to raise my children, and

          5  for them to go to school and do things the right

          6  way, you know? And once they're out there, it's

          7  going to be completely different.

          8                 Many years I've been living there,

          9  and I have my clinics, my church, my schools,

         10  everything is around me. I've never had a problem

         11  with anybody around the neighborhood or anything

         12  like that. So, it's very hard for me to just make

         13  that move. I don't know where, it's scary.

         14                 MS. C. DURAN: I mean, if he could

         15  just compromise, you know? I don't think nobody can

         16  move within six months. If he can at least

         17  compromise, you know, so we can be stable. You know,

         18  if it's got to be like that, you know, we've got to

         19  do what we've got to do. He don't even want to hear

         20  it. He's just, you know, like, no, you've got to go.

         21  That is wrong. You know, my Ma had to see Legal Aid,

         22  and you know, in order for repairment (phonetic)

         23  now, as of today, she, you know, she goes to court

         24  now. She doesn't even go to the landlord, she goes

         25  to court and then they take it from there. Now their
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          2  trying to do the repairment (phonetic) in my

          3  apartment. You know, my niece comes, you know,

          4  sometimes apartments are in bad condition, and she's

          5  there, you know.

          6                 MS. DURAN: We have to be watching

          7  after her because there's a lot of --

          8                 MS. C. DURAN: Rodents, you know.

          9                 MS. DURAN: Chips, and rats, and all

         10  kinds of stuff. So, we have to be aware of where she

         11  goes, what room she goes. And he knows that, that I

         12  babysit here.

         13                 MS. C. DURAN: He knows everything.

         14                 MS. DURAN: And he really doesn't

         15  really care.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         17  Anabell Palma has a question.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: MS. Duran, are

         19  you the only one in your building being --

         20                 MS. DURAN: No. We have about 13

         21  people on Section 8.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: And they all

         23  received the same letter?

         24                 MS. DURAN: No, only four of us. I was

         25  one of the first chosen one and three other tenants.
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          2                 The other ones, I guess as their

          3  lease expires, they're going to keep doing it. But I

          4  was one of the first ones.

          5                 But one of the tenants that moved in

          6  at the same time that I moved into her apartment,

          7  she moved to the fifth floor, signed her lease for

          8  two more years, but he didn't want to sign mine.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: And with

         10  agreement to continue using her Section 8 voucher?

         11                 MS. DURAN: Yes.

         12                 MS. C. DURAN: I thought that was

         13  discrimination right there.

         14                 MS. DURAN: You know, if he didn't

         15  want me there, why didn't he sign that other

         16  tenant's, you know, lease for two more years, that

         17  her lease expired the same time that my lease

         18  expired in February. He gave her two more years.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, what I'm

         20  trying to understand, because what I find surprising

         21  here in both situations, is that I would have

         22  expected some kind of concern raised, because as you

         23  heard in the previous discussion we had, we know

         24  that in some cases there might be a difference

         25  between a landlord and a tenant, sometimes the fault
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          2  is on one side, sometimes the fault is on another

          3  side, we're all human beings. But what I'm confused

          4  about in these cases is, you've, in both family

          5  cases lived there so long, and you're not

          6  identifying any kind of conflict with the landlord

          7  and the payments are made on time.

          8                 I mean, we know the Section 8, as I

          9  said in the beginning, the Section 8 program really

         10  needs some changes to make it more effective for

         11  tenants and landlords, but it's interesting in these

         12  cases it doesn't sound like that was the problem, it

         13  doesn't sound like the payments were the problem.

         14                 Do you know, for example, let me ask,

         15  has the landlord said anything about what he hopes

         16  to do with the building going forward, and why he

         17  doesn't want Section 8 tenants anymore?

         18                 MS. INNISS: No, he hasn't said it to

         19  me.

         20                 Everybody, when he first came into

         21  the building, started doing little repairs and so

         22  forth and so on, it appeared we thought maybe he

         23  might want to go co-op or condo or something, or

         24  there's never been anything written given to us

         25  saying we're going to change over.

                                                            56

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 It's just that as far as I know, it's

          3  about seven or eight of us, I don't know, it's

          4  probably more. The few that I do know of, we all --

          5  my lease was over in November, so I think I was one

          6  of the first for him to start with the procedures

          7  and try and evict me, and then as your lease is

          8  closing, then he claims he's not taking the rent,

          9  the Section 8 money anymore.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And do you see

         11  in your neighborhood, Ms. Inniss, has there been any

         12  pattern of buildings being turned into co-ops or

         13  condos or anything like that?

         14                 MS. INNISS: No. Not at all.

         15                 And I live in an area where there is

         16  predominantly high-rise buildings, whatever, and as

         17  far as I know, they're all still on the Section 8

         18  program, or whatever it is, but there is nothing

         19  that says condo or co-op.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Are rents going

         21  up a lot in the neighborhoods, for example?

         22                 MS. INNISS: Not that I know of.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No?

         24                 MS. INNISS: Not that I know of.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Ms. Duran, let
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          2  me ask you the same question. Anything from the

          3  landlord about what he hopes to do with the building

          4  going forward?

          5                 MS. DURAN: No, I really don't think

          6  so.

          7                 The problem is that he wants most of

          8  these apartments, especially the apartment I'm

          9  living in, it's a five-room apartment, really big,

         10  and I pay very little.

         11                 So, he figures that once he could get

         12  out these people that have been living there for

         13  many, many years, he could raise he rent to a very

         14  high price.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Have you seen

         16  that? Which neighborhood do you live in again?

         17                 MS. DURAN: I live on University

         18  Avenue in the Bronx.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And have you

         20  seen a pattern of buildings going co-op or going

         21  condo? Are the rents raising a lot?

         22                 MS. DURAN: Not at all.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You don't think

         24  that's sort of part of a bigger --

         25                 MS. DURAN: I don't think this is the
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          2  case, no.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          4                 Ms. Palma, any other questions? Okay.

          5                 Well, look, I want to say to both

          6  families, thank you very much.

          7                 As you heard earlier, this is a very

          8  complex problem, but we always have to remember the

          9  human part of this, and the fact that in both cases

         10  you spent so long in the building, and obviously

         11  lived very upstanding lives, and struggled to make

         12  ends meet. You know, the last thing we want to do is

         13  see folks who are doing all the right things in any

         14  way put in harm's way. So, again, we want to work

         15  with each of your families individually to try and

         16  help, and we're looking for larger solutions here as

         17  well.

         18                 MS. INNISS: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 MS. DURAN: Thank you very much.

         22                 MS. C. DURAN: You're welcome.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, we've had

         24  very valuable witnesses up til now so we've let time

         25  go a little bit. There are two witnesses coming in
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          2  in separate panels that it's very important we hear

          3  from, because it will be, I think, fundamental to

          4  understanding this problem.

          5                 So, I'm going to call the first one,

          6  but I want to make sure we keep the time tight,

          7  because I want to hear the second one very much. The

          8  second one being Frank Ricci of the RSA, and I know

          9  he has a schedule conflict coming up.

         10                 So, I'm going to ask Judith Goldiner

         11  of the Legal Aid Society. And Annabell and I will be

         12  disciplined about time to make sure that we leave

         13  enough time to hear from Mr. Ricci and have question

         14  and answer for him.

         15                 Okay, so I'd like to ask both of you

         16  -- welcome. Before you introduce yourselves, I'd

         17  like to just ask you to keep the initial testimony

         18  as verbal and brief so we can get into the Q and A,

         19  and again, we're trying to accommodate other

         20  schedules as well. So, we have your ample written

         21  testimony. Why don't you give us a verbal summary?

         22  And please, both of you introduce yourselves.

         23                 MS. GOLDINER: Judith Goldiner, from

         24  the Legal Aid Society. I'd like to thank Council

         25  Member DeBlasio for his leadership on this issue,
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          2  and your lovely staff, Jackie and Joshua, we've

          3  really enjoyed working with. And we welcome Council

          4  Member Palma, as well, and we look forward to

          5  working with you on this issue as well.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You're the

          7  first one today to get her name right.

          8  Congratulations.

          9                 MR. GOLDINER: Well, I shouldn't say

         10  this probably, but I have a really good friend named

         11  Annette DePalma, and so I've been struggling really

         12  not to say DePalma, because, like, I remember her,

         13  but fortunately I did manage to do that this time.

         14                 But I'd like to turn it over to my

         15  colleague here, Ashwani Prabhaker, who is going to

         16  deliver our testimony, and we'd both be happy to

         17  answer questions.

         18                 MR. PRABHAKER: Thank you for this

         19  opportunity to testify in support of the proposed

         20  amendment, which would prohibit landlords from

         21  discriminating against tenants based on the tenant

         22  source of income.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm going to

         24  just give you a warning. I don't know if you've

         25  testified before us before, but I'm a stickler on
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          2  this point. We got all this, I'd like you to do just

          3  a verbal summary, or if you want to read selections.

          4  If you could get to the core points, because I

          5  assure you our staff will be rigorously reviewing

          6  the written testimony.

          7                 MR. PRABHAKER: I currently represent

          8  an 87-year-old woman who has resided in her rent

          9  stabilized apartment for approximately 24 years. She

         10  survives on her Social Security income of

         11  approximately $659 per month.

         12                 In or around 1984, her landlord

         13  agreed to accept Section 8, whereby NYCHA would pay

         14  a portion of her rent directly to the landlord.

         15                 For the next 18 years the landlord

         16  receives rent in full every month, including the

         17  rent increase to which it was entitled under the

         18  Rent Guidelines Board increases.

         19                 Yet, in the fall of 2002, the

         20  landlord began returning the subsidy payments to

         21  NYCHA, and refused to accept my client's share of

         22  the rent, claiming that it had chosen to opt out of

         23  the Section 8 program.

         24                 A few months later the landlord

         25  instituted a non-payment eviction proceeding against
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          2  my client, claiming she owed the full amount of rent

          3  for the same month in which the landlord had

          4  returned the rent money to her and to NYCHA.

          5                 Initially she appeared prose in the

          6  court proceedings and the landlord did succeed in

          7  obtaining a warrant for her eviction. She later

          8  retained a Legal Aid Society and the matter is now

          9  on appeal.

         10                 Another client of the Legal Aid

         11  Society being harmed by the absence of this

         12  legislation is a 56-year-old woman who has resided

         13  in her rent stabilized apartment for over 23 years.

         14  She survives on her SSI income of little over $600 a

         15  month.

         16                 This tenants landlord also returned

         17  rent payments to NYCHA and then sued to evict the

         18  tenant in Housing Court.

         19                 The landlord again alleged that the

         20  tenant owed the full amount of rent, although the

         21  Section 8 program obligated the tenant to pay only

         22  one-third of her SSI income towards the rent.

         23                 Without the Section 8 subsidy, this

         24  tenant cannot afford to pay the rent for the

         25  apartment.
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          2                 Since she has nowhere else to live,

          3  the landlord's discriminatory behavior will cause

          4  this resident to enter a shelter for homeless

          5  singles. A shameful result for a City resident able

          6  to pay her full rent under the Section 8 program.

          7                 The landlord's complaints about these

          8  government programs are more likely a pre-text that

          9  hides their true motivation for rejecting tenants

         10  with subsidies. Namely, they want to evict those

         11  tenants to increase the rents for the apartment.

         12                 There are over 1 million rent

         13  stabilized apartments in New York City. Many of the

         14  families receiving subsidy assistance reside in

         15  these rent stabilized apartments. We believe that

         16  the real motivation of landlords is to evict

         17  long-term tenants in order to obtain a higher rent

         18  for the apartment.

         19                 Normally a landlord is only entitled

         20  to increased rents for rent stabilized apartments by

         21  amounts authorized by the Rent Guidelines Board.

         22  Currently from anywhere from four and a half percent

         23  for a one-year lease to seven and one-half percent

         24  for a two-year lease renewal.

         25                 The landlord's refusing subsidy
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          2  payments from their current tenants can then evict

          3  those families, which entitles the landlords to a

          4  much higher vacancy of apartment increase which is

          5  20 percent.

          6                 The 20 percent increase is allowed

          7  whenever a rent stabilized apartment is vacated.

          8                 In essence, the refusal of landlords

          9  to accept subsidy payments from existing tenants

         10  allows them to create vacancies by evicting these

         11  tenants for not being able to pay their rent using

         12  non-government sources.

         13                 The result is the landlord's income

         14  on the apartment is increased by over 20 percent on

         15  the backs of the most vulnerable residents of this

         16  City.

         17                 Regardless of whether Legal Aid,

         18  Legal Services, and tenants living in rent

         19  stabilized units prevail on their argument that

         20  tenants living in rent-stabilized units are entitled

         21  to have their Section 8 continue, this legislation

         22  would protect 23,000 current Section 8 participants

         23  who live in non-regulated apartments.

         24                 This would especially be the case in

         25  Queens and Staten Island where we have seen large
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          2  numbers of tenants who are evicted at the end of

          3  their lease.

          4                 There are other jurisdictions in this

          5  country who have legislation similar to the one

          6  before the Council, such as California, Illinois,

          7  Maine, Maryland, Minnesota. There are also

          8  municipalities, such as San Francisco, Los Angeles

          9  and the District of Columbia.

         10                 Their statutes are described in the

         11  document that's attached as an exhibit to our

         12  testimony.

         13                 It is evident from the programs that

         14  it funds and administers that our City is also

         15  committed to the public policy of safe, decent

         16  housing, and low-income residents.

         17                 Without this legislation, the City's

         18  rental assistance programs will continue to

         19  disadvantage the same people it is trying to

         20  shelter, our clients, a senior citizen living with

         21  HIV in Manhattan, a disabled mother of two in the

         22  Bronx, an 87-year-old woman in Brooklyn. We urge

         23  this Council to join the other jurisdictions that

         24  have already addressed this injustice and pass the

         25  legislation under consideration.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          3  much, and you effectively summarized your testimony.

          4  Well done.

          5                 In the dialogue with NYCHA and Human

          6  Rights, again, I happen to believe the people

          7  represented here today are trying to do good work

          8  and are struggling to do it in a difficult situation

          9  from those two agencies.

         10                 But I was surprised when I asked the

         11  numerical question, that there wasn't more of a

         12  sense of the breakout within the 30 percent of folks

         13  who are now unable to successfully use their

         14  voucher.

         15                 Also, on the discussion of the

         16  situation of people in place whose landlords no

         17  longer want to participate, again, I found rather

         18  gray answers, not I don't think any lack of

         19  goodwill, but just a lack of detail.

         20                 Do you conversely have any kind of

         21  statistics that you think we should know about,

         22  either about folks whose landlords ask them to no

         23  longer be in their buildings, or who will no longer

         24  take Section 8; or on the front-end problem of why

         25  so many people are having trouble using their
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          2  vouchers effectively.

          3                 MS. GOLDINER: We don't have any

          4  numbers on the front-end problem. Although, I will

          5  say that the Department of Homeless Services has

          6  been unable to use their full allocations of Section

          7  8 vouchers for at least last year, and I think for a

          8  number of years, which indicates that even where you

          9  have an agency who is finding apartments for people,

         10  they are still not able to use the full number of

         11  their vouchers.

         12                 But there are a number of studies

         13  which are summarized in your report, which HUD has

         14  commissioned which detail the problems that people

         15  have in using their vouchers, and discrimination is

         16  certainly one of the factors, and in jurisdictions

         17  where -- jurisdictions that have the type of

         18  legislation we're considering here, the voucher

         19  utilization rate is higher.

         20                 The important thing here is that if

         21  there were such a legislation, we could enforce it.

         22  You know, I was interested in the Human Rights

         23  Commission testimony, but quite frankly, the Human

         24  Rights Commission isn't a huge factor in our

         25  consideration in supporting this bill, because we
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          2  had concluded long ago that the length of time it

          3  takes them to resolve anything, let alone these kind

          4  of cases, is so long that we can't rely on them.

          5                 But in other parts of the country,

          6  Legal Aid and legal services providers are able to

          7  use such language to ensure people get housing, and

          8  retain the housing that they currently have.

          9                 I wanted to respond to the other

         10  question which was related to people who are

         11  currently in place.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

         13                 MS. GOLDINER: You know, I was

         14  surprised to hear the Housing Authority's testimony,

         15  because between Legal Services and Legal Aid, I

         16  personally know of ten to 15 tenants in the

         17  situation, and Ms. Duran and Ms. Inniss testified

         18  about many more tenants just in their building.

         19                 So, the idea that somehow

         20  miraculously that every single tenant in this

         21  situation had managed to find Legal Aid and Legal

         22  Services, when you know through your work on the

         23  Committee how difficult it is to get a Legal Aid and

         24  Legal Services attorney, and there's no right to

         25  counsel, as you know, in Housing Court cases, that I
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          2  find that testimony mind-boggling. Because so many

          3  tenants don't know their rights, and what happens in

          4  these situations is the landlord sues them for the

          5  full amount of the rent, and they go into court and

          6  they get evicted, and, you know, we see that over

          7  and over. You know, people will come to us later and

          8  say, well, I had a Section 8, but my landlord said

          9  he wasn't going to take it anymore and then I got

         10  evicted. And we're seeing that in the shelter

         11  population, as well.

         12                 So, I think that it would have been

         13  more accurate for the Housing Authority to say that

         14  they really had no idea, because the only way they

         15  know is if the landlord tells them.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: How much do you

         17  see any differentiation between cases in which the

         18  landlord lets the lease run its course and then is

         19  fundamentally trying to change the building, versus

         20  cases in which a landlord tends to end the lease

         21  prematurely or a landlord makes no changes to a

         22  building, but just doesn't, for some reason, want

         23  that particular tenant there.

         24                 MS. GOLDINER: Well, I think both

         25  happen. I think sometimes it's that they don't want
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          2  the tenant.

          3                 Most of the time, the clients we see

          4  are very long-term tenants. You know, the two

          5  tenants that testified here are very typical of the

          6  tenants we've seen, they've lived there for decades.

          7                 You know, I've been working with an

          8  88-year-old guy in Washington Heights who has lived

          9  in his apartment since early seventies. So, I think

         10  what's going on in some of these places is that

         11  landlords want to get them out because they've lived

         12  there so long that their rent is low. And that's

         13  what we're, I think, in the rent stayed stock there

         14  is tremendous pressure to get out rent stabilized

         15  tenants so that the rent can increase.

         16                 What shocked me is how many of these

         17  cases I have seen in the Bronx, which used to be one

         18  of the few boroughs that you could consistently use

         19  your Section 8. I think that's a very disturbing

         20  trend, that many of the cases we're seeing are in

         21  the Bronx.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But this is

         23  generally not breaking a lease in mid-stream, as far

         24  as you --

         25                 MS. GOLDINER: I think that even the
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          2  landlords know they can't do that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And do you have

          4  any reason why you think this is happening in the

          5  Bronx?

          6                 And again, as reports from the

          7  individuals here suggested, they aren't seeing in

          8  their neighborhoods, you know, a lot of co-op

          9  conversion or whatever it may be, do you have any

         10  sense of what is causing it in that particular area?

         11                 MS. GOLDINER: Yes, it's raising the

         12  rents. Because the market is such that in the Bronx

         13  you can also get significantly more money for an

         14  apartment than you might be able to get before.

         15                 You know, in the Bronx we're seeing

         16  the kind of pressures we had already seen in

         17  Manhattan and seen in parts of Brooklyn, but it's

         18  just starting in the Bronx that two- and

         19  three-bedroom apartments are renting for much more

         20  money than long-term rent stabilized tenants pay,

         21  and I'm sure Council Member Palma sees that in her

         22  district, but that's, we're seeing that all over the

         23  City. But I think that that pressure is definitely

         24  happening in the Bronx.

         25                 The other thing that's happening in
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          2  the Bronx is you have large institutional landlords

          3  by and large, and they tend to be very savvy, and

          4  there is recently a case on this issue that was

          5  decided in Westchester County in 2002, which gave

          6  that individual landlord a right to opt out, even

          7  though it was an EPTA apartment, which was the rent

          8  stabilization of Westchester County. So, landlords

          9  found out about that 2002 decision, and at the end

         10  of Section 8 leases, that's what we're starting to

         11  see them trying to act on that decision.

         12                 Even though that decision has not

         13  been applied yet in New York City.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: What I would

         15  like to do going forward, and, again, I emphasize

         16  that we want all the different parties involved here

         17  to work together going forward and look for

         18  solutions is, anything you can do to help us further

         19  delineate the trends. You certainly I think are

         20  giving us a clear picture of why you think the Bronx

         21  might be an epicenter of this, and the market forces

         22  that work here. I think anything you can do to help

         23  us further break out, if that is the core reason, or

         24  if there are other dynamics that we should know

         25  about, and the numbers -- I think what's crucial
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          2  here is, because from a NYCHA perspective this is a

          3  relatively small problem, from your perspective this

          4  is a large problem. We certainly heard a lot of

          5  concern raised, and I think it would be very

          6  helpful, knowing that you only get to so many of the

          7  people involved, perhaps helping us to link with

          8  other community groups and all to really get a

          9  composite of this as much as we can.

         10                 MS. GOLDINER: Well, what might also

         11  be helpful is one statistic, which is that in NYCHA

         12  alone 53,000 tenants live in rent stabilized

         13  apartments, and I will tell you that in private

         14  conversations with me, and I doubt that they would

         15  say this on the record, but both the had of HPD and

         16  NYCHA's Section 8 program have expressed extreme

         17  concern about what would happen if landlords are

         18  successful in this.

         19                 And we know that they're concerned,

         20  because NYCHA has actually done a memo that agrees

         21  with the legal position, as Doug Apple testified,

         22  that alone showed how concerned they are about this

         23  issue, and the potential for 53,000 tenants to lose

         24  their apartments.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very
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          2  much for your testimony. We appreciate it.

          3                 MS. GOLDINER: We look forward to

          4  working with you further on this issue as well.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, next we

          6  would like to call up Frank Ricci, of Rent

          7  Stabilization Association.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Frank, before

          9  you begin, I just want to say we have, as you know,

         10  tried to have a dialogue on this issue. It will be

         11  an ongoing dialogue, and we know the only way we're

         12  going to solve this is all together. We very much

         13  appreciate you being a part of this discussion, and

         14  we welcome your perspective.

         15                 MR. RICCI: Thank you, Councilman. For

         16  the record, my name is Frank Ricci, I'm the Director

         17  of Government Affairs for the Rent Stabilization

         18  Association.  I am joined on my left by Mitch

         19  Pasilkin, who is our General Counsel at RSA.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And let me

         21  welcome Council Member Jose Serrano.

         22                 MR. RICCI: And I had handed in

         23  testimony, but I had planned to summarize it all

         24  along anyway, so...

         25                 We came here today basically to
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          2  express our concerns about this bill. And obviously

          3  it relates to the entire Section 8 program, which I

          4  think has been covered pretty well today by

          5  yourself, Councilwoman Palma, and representatives

          6  from NYCHA, as well as Human Rights Commission.

          7                 But this is a complex problem for us.

          8  Essentially from our perspective, we only heard from

          9  NYCHA today, but what I think people need to realize

         10  is that you have NYCHA, who issues Section 8

         11  vouchers, you have HPD, you have the Department of

         12  Homeless Services, and you have the State Division

         13  of Housing and Community Renewal.

         14                 Each one of those agencies has

         15  different policies and different procedures. Some of

         16  those agencies, although it's gotten much, much

         17  better, used to have, there used to be different

         18  policies at NYCHA that varied from borough to

         19  borough, depending on the borough office. So, from

         20  the owner's perspective, I think there's a large

         21  group of owners out there who never have

         22  participated in a Section 8 program and never will

         23  because for them it is just so complex, and such a

         24  monster for them bureaucratically, that they just

         25  want nothing at all to do with it.
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          2                 About three and a half years ago,

          3  Doug Apple correctly characterized the fact that we

          4  started working very closely with NYCHA and HPD and

          5  Homeless Services to really try and coordinate the

          6  policies amongst those agencies so that they were

          7  consistent and fair to owners, and they have made

          8  great strides in those three and a half years.

          9                 In fact, I think the first time we

         10  met with your staff, which was well over a year ago,

         11  we were citing a lot of concerns about this bill

         12  when you had first talked about it, and then in

         13  subsequent discussions, you know, we've come a long

         14  way in pointing out that a lot of those problems we

         15  initially identified have been resolved. But I think

         16  there's still a long way to go, with all three of

         17  the City agencies on this.

         18                 But I'll just give you a couple

         19  specific examples of the problems that owners go

         20  through and why they shy away from the program, or

         21  may want to opt out, and then we can do questions

         22  and answers. I think that would be helpful.

         23                 A lot of the problems start initially

         24  at rent up. If you want to take a tenant who is on

         25  Section 8, you have to get an inspection done, and I
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          2  think Doug cited in his testimony that now the time

          3  frame between requesting the inspection and getting

          4  it done averages 12 days. But there are a lot of

          5  owners out there who have never had that 12 days.

          6  It's more like a month, two, months, it's been as

          7  much as three months. That's lost rent. So, right

          8  off the bat if you're a small owner and you realize

          9  you have to lose a month or two of rent, when on the

         10  opposite side you may have another tenant who is not

         11  on Section 8 who is willing to move in next week and

         12  start paying you, I think the choice is obvious for

         13  an owner. Why would you take one over the other. The

         14  only reason you might take the Section 8 tenant is

         15  over time you may feel that you're going to have

         16  more of a steady rent payment, or at least making up

         17  for it, and maybe your other tenant may have shakey

         18  credit. But that would be the only reason.

         19                 You know, this business, cash flow is

         20  everything, and you need to meet your bills each

         21  month, your mortgage payments, your fuel payments,

         22  et cetera, et cetera, so losing a month's rent for

         23  many owners, especially small ones, is absolutely

         24  not an option whatsoever.

         25                 Another specific problem that we hear
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          2  constantly about from our members, although maybe a

          3  little less so now, has to do with the housing

          4  quality inspections that happen on a yearly basis.

          5  And often times you'll have tenant-caused

          6  violations, and the inspector will come out and

          7  suspend payments until you can correct those

          8  conditions. Often times those conditions are not

          9  caused by the owner, they're caused by the tenant in

         10  the apartment. So then the owner has the problem of

         11  (a) access to get in the apartment, do the repairs,

         12  and then getting the whole thing reinstated again,

         13  that can be a multi-month process which also

         14  discourages owners.

         15                 There's always been an ongoing

         16  problem with lawful rent increases that are charged

         17  on apartments, especially on the rent stabilized

         18  increases.

         19                 For awhile at HPD, as you know, and I

         20  think everyone on this panel, this Committee knows,

         21  when it comes to rent stabilization, you don't

         22  charge anyone $250 a month. Everyone's rent is

         23  calculated literally to the penny because of the

         24  rent guideline increases. So, it would be $262.27 a

         25  month, but for a while HPD decided to round off all
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          2  those rents. Well, we had some owners who had a lot

          3  of Section 8 tenants, who were literally losing tens

          4  of thousands of dollars a year because of the

          5  rounding off problem. It's ultimately been

          6  corrected, but these are all examples of things that

          7  discourage owners from participating in the program.

          8  And even though, as I keep emphasizing, they have

          9  made a lot of changes, by the time those changes

         10  filter down to the owners, the thousands of owners

         11  who participate, or the thousands who might want to

         12  participate, you know, they already have a

         13  preconceived notion that, look, it's government,

         14  it's a bureaucratic program. I don't even want to

         15  touch it, I don't want to get involved.

         16                 So, I think those are some of the

         17  things that from our members' perspective, what

         18  they're dealing with and why some owners have tried

         19  to opt out, who are not, no longer accept Section 8

         20  tenants. I did hear the Commissioner say it's their

         21  policy to not accept that, and I know that's a whole

         22  separate issue all together, especially if it's a

         23  rent-stabilized apartment. But we are here today,

         24  and we will continue to work with you and your staff

         25  and we look forward to doing that. We think
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          2  ultimately it's a great program, it really fits into

          3  the philosophy, which is what we've always said

          4  about how rental properties should operate in New

          5  York City, that everyone should share in the

          6  subsidy. There shouldn't be a single owner

          7  subsidizing a single tenant.

          8                 So, this program is really the way to

          9  go, we just all need to work together I think to

         10  make it work smoothly.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. I

         12  have several questions and comments.

         13                 Let me first welcome Council Member

         14  Bill Perkins.

         15                 I think what we started today with,

         16  we come to again here is, this is -- I shouldn't say

         17  more complex, but more multifaceted than many

         18  problems we face in public policy, because there's

         19  no question of the truth of what you say, that a lot

         20  of what has happened in the history of this program

         21  has not encouraged anyone.

         22                 When I was at HUD dealing with NYCHA

         23  and HPD, just the interrelationship between the

         24  various agencies is tortured. Again, there is

         25  progress that's been made, but the beauty of the
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          2  Section 8 program is also its downfall in part,

          3  because it is not as linear as building public

          4  housing directly or some of the other efforts in the

          5  housing area. It requires a lot of partners and a

          6  lot of pieces to fit together.

          7                 The beauty of it is, there has been

          8  until potentially this year, a consensus in

          9  Washington to some extent that this was a

         10  private/public solution that worked and sort of

         11  crossed party lines and philosophical lines, and

         12  there was some consensus, this was one thing on

         13  housing that a lot of different parties could agree

         14  upon, even if it had a long way to go in

         15  implementation.

         16                 As you know, and I assume you share a

         17  lot of our concern about what's happening in

         18  Washington right now, that the efforts to

         19  fundamentally reduce this program could

         20  disproportionately hurt New York, and I think we

         21  need your help in sounding the call on that as well.

         22                 MR. RICCI: We're part of a national

         23  organization that we've been lobbying very

         24  strenuously for the last few months, and we've been

         25  coordinating some of our activities with NYCHA and
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          2  HPD, in terms of targeting various members of

          3  Congress to preserve the program at funding levels.

          4  We're very active in that area.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We appreciate

          6  that.

          7                 But taking it to the topic of hand

          8  more, so I guess I'm trying to understand the

          9  difference between the problem that landlords have

         10  experienced which keep people out of the program, or

         11  may give some incentive to leave the program, and

         12  the type of concerns we're raising here today.

         13                 And let me ask you the tough question

         14  of the example we have heard today.

         15                 And to some extent, you could look at

         16  the landlord's legal rights, and you could also look

         17  at the question of human impact.

         18                 How do we deal with these examples of

         19  long-term families that have done the right thing?

         20  And I want to absolutely differentiate a family that

         21  hasn't paid the rent, or a family that's been

         22  disruptive or broken the law, but let's take on face

         23  value that we have two examples here of families

         24  that have done the right thing, long-term tenants,

         25  part of the stability of their community; what can
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          2  we do to ensure stability for those tenants? And

          3  what can we do to ensure that the few bad apples

          4  that every community has, landlords, tenants have,

          5  everyone has, are not making decisions for the wrong

          6  reasons? What's your sense of that?

          7                 MR. RICCI: It's a little difficult

          8  for me to comment on the specific cases without

          9  hearing the other side to the story, and knowing,

         10  you know, giving the full picture. But I think what

         11  Doug was referring to earlier, and what our position

         12  would ultimately be is, if there's more choices out

         13  there, especially in the particular neighborhood,

         14  then it wouldn't be an issue.

         15                 Other than that, I just don't know

         16  why these owners are no longer accepting Section 8.

         17  And I'm a little confused by some of the testimony,

         18  which is why I don't want to get into the specifics,

         19  because, you know, you did hear that it's NYCHA

         20  policy, if those vouchers are indeed issue by NYCHA,

         21  I don't know if they're HPD or homeless services or

         22  who is administering them, that if it's a

         23  rent-stabilized apartment they can opt out, and I

         24  know that's being litigated now, and I guess

         25  ultimately litigation will, the outcome of that will
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          2  determine what happens, but it's a difficult

          3  question for us to answer, other than to say that,

          4  you know, if there were plenty of choices available

          5  it wouldn't be an issue.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, let me

          7  also ask you sort of about just understanding how

          8  landlords would look at the situation once they're

          9  in the program. So, I think we all agree that

         10  getting landlords into the program is its own

         11  challenge and we also have a lot of work to do to

         12  make it a more effective program for everyone. And

         13  to the extent it is more effective and more

         14  streamlined, as you said, the 12 day til inspection

         15  is an incentive to participate, a 90 days until

         16  inspection is a clear disincentive, and I wouldn't

         17  blame any landlord for thinking that was excessive.

         18                 So, to the extent we're solving the

         19  front-end problems, speak to me about what would

         20  cause a landlord to no longer want to participate.

         21                 What I'm interested in is, if you

         22  have a guaranteed income stream, and clearly the

         23  entity is sending the money in and is not going out

         24  of business, you know, so that's the one thing I

         25  have assumed is always inattractive to landlords is
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          2  the payments from NYCHA, for example, are going to

          3  be consistent, even if a little tortured some times;

          4  whereas, I'm assuming every type of landlord

          5  experiences a certain amount of non-payment by

          6  tenants at all levels, and that's a consistent

          7  business problem to deal with.

          8                 Once in the program, why is the

          9  consistency of payment not enough to keep in the

         10  program long-term?

         11                 MR. PASILKIN: Well, I think what Mr.

         12  Ricci said at the outset is part and parcel of the

         13  answer.

         14                 With all of those incentives that

         15  you're talking about, the guaranteed income stream

         16  from the federal government, the disincentives have

         17  to be pretty substantial, and I think what is really

         18  most telling, and most dramatic, was the conference

         19  actually that Doug Apple referred to earlier in his

         20  testimony. We have been urging NYCHA for some time

         21  to do an outreach program for property owners, and

         22  in fact, in February, there was a very well attended

         23  program targeted to property owners that was held in

         24  Downtown Brooklyn at the Marriott, and you had

         25  literally hundreds of owners. Hundreds. All shapes
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          2  and sizes and colors and religions and everything

          3  else. And what was really dramatic was how even the

          4  most basic levels of information was lacking, that

          5  the level of questions, the nature of the problems

          6  were so enormous that you could tell that many

          7  people who were participating in the program no

          8  longer understood why they were doing so. And I

          9  think actually, and Frank went through a litany of

         10  some examples, naturally one of the most egregious

         11  which he didn't mention, is particularly the rent

         12  stabilization, and that is this issue of increases

         13  on renewal leases. When the Guidelines Board

         14  approves the Guidelines increases, the owner is

         15  permitted to go back to NYCHA or HPD and get their

         16  renewal lease increase, you know, provided for. And

         17  the reality is that it's not just days or weeks or

         18  months that we're talking about, we're talking about

         19  literally years, years, where owners have to wait

         20  for increases allowed by the Guidelines Board.

         21                 So, I think when you begin to put all

         22  of these little pieces of the puzzle together, there

         23  has to be, in fact, all of these little

         24  disincentives, which together add up to constitute

         25  enough of a disincentive for owners to say, you know
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          2  what? This is just not worth it anymore. And earlier

          3  there was some testimony with regard to the fact

          4  that, well, if owners get the tenant out, if the

          5  tenants leave, the owners are automatically entitled

          6  to a 20 percent, you know, vacancy increase under

          7  the rent laws.

          8                 And I think the reality is that, that

          9  may be literally true, as a matter of law, but as a

         10  matter of reality, it's not always the case. And I

         11  think all the data established that in many areas of

         12  the City outside of Manhattan, in fact many of these

         13  increases cannot be achieved, and that many owners

         14  outside of core Manhattan are in fact charging less

         15  than the legally allowable rent, precisely because

         16  the market is less than the legally allowable rent.

         17                 So, it ain't necessarily so that just

         18  because an owner is seeking to end the Section 8

         19  tenancy, or the Section 8 benefit for that tenant,

         20  that the motivation is because he can get more

         21  money, you know, through a vacancy increase. I think

         22  it's because the Section 8 program has historically

         23  been so flawed, and, again, as Frank said on several

         24  occasions, programmatically HPD and NYCHA have come

         25  a long way in the last three and a half years, but
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          2  there is no question there is a long, long way to

          3  go, and we may see it in theory, we may see it on

          4  paper, but for the individual property owner who

          5  owns a six-family house in Crown Heights or the

          6  South Bronx, wherever it may be, you know, those

          7  impediments, those disincentives are very real, and

          8  we know property owners who belong to our

          9  organization who have three or four or five staff

         10  who just deal with Section 8 problems.

         11                 So, the mom and pop operator, that's

         12  not happening. And those are very real problems.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I appreciate

         14  that. That's a very helpful answer. I know Council

         15  Member Perkins has a question. I'll turn it over to

         16  him, just to say before I do that, I think it would

         17  be helpful, I'm challenging everyone today to help

         18  us with the facts, help us with the statistics as we

         19  go through this discussion going forward, I think it

         20  would be helpful, for example, Legal Aid Society is

         21  concerned about the Bronx, and it stands to reason

         22  that Manhattan and Brooklyn have changed radically,

         23  and there's going to be some new frontiers, it would

         24  be helpful to get your perceptions of what's

         25  happening to the housing project, where we

                                                            89

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  particularly have high concentrations with Section 8

          3  vouchers, and whether the market forces are part of

          4  the problem here, and in general, you know, to break

          5  out for us what's working and what's not in the

          6  program. Because I do think, you know, all these

          7  pieces are interrelated, and I would love nothing

          8  more than to understand, because I know the average

          9  landlord is a decent, hard-working person and

         10  providing a service, I would love nothing more to

         11  understand, if you will, the psychology and the

         12  business thinking, so that we could make the Section

         13  8 program maximally attractive, and minimize the

         14  problems, and if there are some problems based on

         15  disputes between tenant and landlord or other

         16  factors, then we can look at that more in isolation.

         17  But I think it's very, very helpful for us to hear

         18  over the coming weeks your understanding as far as

         19  what's working, what's not working, what's fixable,

         20  what's not fixable. And we also then have to address

         21  the core point going on in this bill which is then

         22  we can isolate it down to where might there be

         23  discrimination and what do we do about it.

         24                 But I'll come back to that in a

         25  moment. Let me turn it over to Council Member
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          2  Perkins.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          4  very much, Chairman. I think this is an important

          5  discussion, and to some extent you have sort of

          6  touched on where I want to go.

          7                 But where is it working? There are

          8  owners that are accepting Section 8; am I correct?

          9                 MR. RICCI: Correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And those

         11  that are accepting it and are happily accepting it,

         12  give me some understanding of what's going on with

         13  respect to them?

         14                 MR. RICCI: Well, I think what Mitch

         15  just said is what's happening. These are larger

         16  operators who have staff who deal with Section 8 and

         17  nothing but Section 8.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: When you say

         19  larger operators, how large are you talking about?

         20                 MR. RICCI: Managing agents, probably

         21  anywhere's from a few hundred to a few thousand

         22  units that they either own and/or manage.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, you're

         24  suggesting that the program works for them, but

         25  doesn't work for anyone --
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          2                 MR. RICCI: It works for them because

          3  they have someone who is dedicated. They have

          4  someone in their office, or usually more than one

          5  person, who is familiar with the policies of HPD

          6  Section 8, and when they have a problem, they know

          7  who to call at HPD, or they have an account manager

          8  in HPD that deals with them and them only. Or they

          9  have someone who deals exclusively with NYCHA and

         10  knows how to deal with that bureaucracy.

         11                 MR. PASILKIN: And there is one other

         12  point, which is that for those larger operators,

         13  they also have a substantial amount of non-Section 8

         14  income and non-Section 8 tenancies for which is --

         15  it's an issue of volume.

         16                 Whereas, for the smaller property

         17  owner, a particular problem, with a particular

         18  Section 8 benefit is, you know, becomes

         19  disproportionate.

         20                 MR. RICCI: I just want to follow up

         21  with one thing, because I was going to say it after

         22  Councilman DeBlasio's last statement, but I think

         23  it's helpful in this context too.

         24                 We have 25,000 members and from time

         25  to time we do polls of our members to find out what
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          2  the issues are, and what they're all about, and we

          3  also try and find out where they come from, and over

          4  50 percent of our members, slightly, like 55

          5  percent, English is not their native language. So,

          6  these are small owners who, you know, they came here

          7  from somewhere else, and are struggling to do

          8  something. So, dealing with government and all these

          9  bureaucracies is way beyond them. They're just not

         10  going to do it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, the

         12  discrimination that we're concerned about, where is

         13  it coming from? How do you understand the problem of

         14  discrimination and how would you recommend we

         15  address it? Assuming, like I assume that you agree

         16  that there is a problem?

         17                 MR. RICCI: I don't know if there's a

         18  widespread problem. I know you weren't here earlier

         19  from the testimony from NYCHA, but they said that at

         20  the low-end it's maybe 15 cases a year where someone

         21  is refusing to renew.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Someone is

         23  reported to be refusing.

         24                 MR. RICCI: Someone is reported. Or it

         25  could be a few hundred when you get to the category
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          2  of buildings that are not rent stabilized which are

          3  six or less. And I know I have co-workers in our

          4  office who have purchased two- or three-family

          5  homes, who have a Section 8 tenant, and at the end

          6  of their tenancy they do not want to participate

          7  anymore because they want to move another family

          8  member in, which is why they bought this smaller

          9  building to begin with.

         10                 And that's a very common occurrence.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: But that's

         12  not discrimination.

         13                 MR. RICCI: No.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Right.

         15                 MR. RICCI: I wouldn't call that

         16  discrimination. They bought a house for a specific

         17  purpose. They wanted to have the rest of their

         18  family live in the same building, and they are just

         19  opting out of the program then.

         20                 MR. PASILKIN: And that's one of the

         21  problems with the bill. And one of the problems with

         22  the bill is that overlaying this entire discussion

         23  is the use of the word "discrimination," when in

         24  fact what's discrimination to one is choice or

         25  preference by another. And I think we need to be
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          2  very careful about using that word.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let's assume

          4  your definition, let's assume we have for a moment a

          5  common definition that takes into consideration some

          6  of the qualifiers that you have in mind. Let's

          7  assume that there is an anti-voucher, anti-Section 8

          8  tenant, anti even poor tenant, if you will, out

          9  there, landlord out there; is there any

         10  discrimination, in terms of the definition that you

         11  would use?

         12                 MR. RICCI: I think there are owners

         13  who, for legitimate reasons, do not want to

         14  participate in the Section 8 program.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Are there

         16  discriminatory reasons that you would be familiar

         17  with?

         18                 I'm giving you the definition. Would

         19  you believe there is any discrimination with respect

         20  to Section 8?

         21                 MR. RICCI: Councilman, I would refer

         22  you to the testimony that was delivered here once

         23  again earlier, and I know you came late, by the

         24  General Counsel, I believe, of the Human Rights

         25  Commission, where it's a well-established principle
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          2  that when it comes to economics and financing and

          3  income levels, that it's been established that that

          4  is a reason for you not to have to do business with

          5  someone. So, if you want to call it discrimination,

          6  apparently it's legal discrimination based on the

          7  cases that he cited, you know, not only in New York,

          8  but across the whole country.

          9                 But this is a voluntary program, and

         10  to now make it into a mandatory program for every

         11  owner in the City, may ultimately have the effect of

         12  discouraging people from even being in the rental

         13  property business, especially at the low end where

         14  you might find more affordable rents for people.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I just want

         16  to try this one more time. I'm not going to be pushy

         17  or anything about it, so forgive me. I just want to

         18  know, do you think there is any discrimination at

         19  all, by any definition that you could find

         20  acceptable?

         21                 MR. RICCI: I will just echo what

         22  Mitch said. I think there are owners who opt out of

         23  this program who say I've had enough, I no longer

         24  want to deal with the Section 8 program at all, and

         25  I just don't want to participate anymore.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, thank

          3  you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I just want to

          5  follow up on that point.

          6                 Obviously we understand that everyone

          7  who comes to testify at a hearing comes from a

          8  perspective and is there to advocate for their

          9  perspective.

         10                 I guess one of the things I'm looking

         11  at in this whole situation is the need on all of our

         12  part to improve the Section 8 process, which should

         13  benefit landlord and tenant alike, so that's real

         14  common ground there.

         15                 On the other hand, I think part of

         16  what we're trying to do is make it harder, both in

         17  the sense of making it less desirable and making it

         18  more rigorous for anyone to leave the program once

         19  they're in. So, let's separate for a moment folks

         20  who never want to get involved in the program from

         21  folks who do get involved, landlords who do get

         22  involved.

         23                 I think the never wanting to be

         24  involved, you know, obviously in this legislation

         25  there is a subtext hope that more and more folks
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          2  will. Clearly, I mean that's what we believe in. And

          3  that we would like to work together to find ways to

          4  demystify, if you want to call it that, or to

          5  streamline and improve the process, whatever the

          6  range of things is, and move as many landlords

          7  towards the program as possible.

          8                 The back-end problem, which we have

          9  heard, particularly the human examples of today, is

         10  trying to make it as appealling as possible for

         11  landlords to stay in the program, and trying to

         12  ensure that in the event anyone ever were leaving

         13  the program, it is for entirely legitimate reasons.

         14  So, what I would say is, and I would never expect

         15  you to say, even if in your heart you had seen some

         16  bad apples, I would not necessarily expect you to

         17  say that publicly. I will say, as just an observer,

         18  I think every sector has its bad apples. I'm

         19  assuming out there, there are some folks who for the

         20  wrong reasons, and it could be personal conflict

         21  with a tenant, it could be some former

         22  discrimination, it could be a lot of things moved

         23  away from the program.

         24                 I think what we hope to do, both in

         25  this legislation and the larger process is, minimize
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          2  that field of activity, and find ways to make this

          3  program something that people want to stick with.

          4  Because the human result, when they don't stick with

          5  it, is one of the problems that concerns us here,

          6  and I don't think, again, I don't think anyone

          7  wishes to see, like Ms. Inniss who said she's been

          8  in the building 29 years, I don't think anyone

          9  wishes to see a low-income grandmother with a

         10  ten-year-old grandson she's caring for having to

         11  leave her building.

         12                 It's not even a question whether she

         13  could find another unit somewhere else in the

         14  borough or somewhere else in the City. I think we

         15  all understand the destabilizing effect on a family.

         16                 So, we have to find a way, as we work

         17  through this legislation, to maximize the positive

         18  dynamic for the landlords, but also as sort of a,

         19  you know, with benefits comes responsibility to make

         20  very clear that there should be every incentive in

         21  the world to stay with the program and stay with the

         22  tenant, and there should never be the wrong kind of

         23  decision-making. That's what we're trying to

         24  achieve.

         25                 MR. RICCI: We don't disagree with you
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          2  on that. And, you know, we have said it publicly, we

          3  will continue to say it publicly, we know there are

          4  bad owners out there, just like we know there are

          5  bad tenants out there, but neither side should ever

          6  be painted with one broad brush.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

          8                 MR. RICCI: Usually what happens with

          9  the bad owners out there, the last thing they want

         10  to do is pay dues to us because they're maximizing

         11  -- they're not paying dues to anybody, they're not

         12  spending money on the building, we fully agree they

         13  should be prosecuted and taken to task in every way,

         14  shape or form that government allows them to be

         15  taken to. But it's the legitimate owner out there

         16  that we're concerned about, which is why we're here

         17  today.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We appreciate

         19  that.

         20                 And we would also, I think, welcome,

         21  in addition to the statistics and the insights, we

         22  would welcome your sense of solutions.

         23                 I mean, let's take it down again.

         24  We're interested in fighting discrimination in any

         25  form. That's the Human Rights Commission part of
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          2  what this Committee does. But we're also interested

          3  on a broader front in stabilizing communities. One

          4  of the reasons this Council is working on the

          5  community stability tax credit. We're interested in

          6  a broad range of solutions. There would be nothing

          7  more helpful than hearing from you what you think

          8  would avoid a situation like Ms. Inniss's.

          9                 MR. RICCI: I wrote down the one

         10  address. I didn't hear the second one, but I guess I

         11  can get it from your staff later. You know, I'd like

         12  to follow-up with these owners, if I could, and find

         13  out from them what the story is.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I would

         15  appreciate that in particular, but I guess I'm

         16  saying broadly, and this is my concluding points.

         17                 MR. RICCI: The owners that we deal

         18  with on Section 8, I think we'll start asking them

         19  those questions and see if we can come up with some

         20  answers.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And if you

         22  could come back to us as we have a continued

         23  dialogue and say, look, if we want to keep a family

         24  like that in place, maybe even while rents in the

         25  rest of the building are going up, or while the
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          2  neighborhood market is changing for the better from

          3  the perspective of the landlords, what steps can we

          4  take?

          5                 If Section 8 was started as a

          6  private/public partnership that largely works, but

          7  works in less than favorable market conditions,

          8  markets changing, before families get dislocated on

          9  a mass level, what do we have to do together,

         10  legally, in terms of policy on all levels, to

         11  improve the situation for all. I think that's a

         12  subtext to this whole discussion.

         13                 Okay, thank you very much. We

         14  appreciate the testimony.

         15                 I'm now going to turn the chair over

         16  to my colleague, Jose Serrano, Jr. Thank you very

         17  much. Unfortunately, I have to go to a hearing on

         18  the Nets arena in Brooklyn, something that very much

         19  affects my borough and my district, so please

         20  forgive me, but Council Member Serrano will continue

         21  the hearing.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Okay, the

         23  next panel, Molly Smithsimon and Jonathan Levy.

         24  Katharine Tracy as well, along with Legal Services

         25  for New York. Molly Smithsimon is with Community
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          2  Service Society.

          3                 We need the slip. Did you turn in

          4  your slip? You have to turn it in with the

          5  Sergeant-At-Arms.

          6                 Because we have a rather large panel,

          7  as much as possible, try to summarize your

          8  testimony. You may begin whenever you're ready.

          9                 MS. TRACEY: Katharine Tracey, LSNY,

         10  Bronx.

         11                 Portia Inniss has lived in her

         12  building 29 years. You heard from her about her

         13  situations. And the question was raised to her, why

         14  would a landlord, who is being paid 100 percent of

         15  the rent every month, Ms. Inniss her tenant share

         16  which she pays and which her landlord cashes, and

         17  the Section 8 share, why would that landlord end

         18  that tenancy by opting out of Section 8?

         19                 I can't answer for the landlord, but

         20  I'll tell you, if Ms. Inniss were a non-Section 8

         21  tenant, her rent stabilized rent of $810.92 from now

         22  until October 31st, 2005 when her lease expires

         23  would remain $810.92. Because she is not only a

         24  rent-stabilized tenant, but also a Section 8 tenant,

         25  a Section 8 subsidy administered by NYCHA, her
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          2  landlord is able to opt out of taking Section 8 and

          3  end a rent stabilized tenancy. If this landlord, who

          4  has Ms. Inniss in court trying to evict her is

          5  successful and Ms. Inniss is evicted, the landlord

          6  is entitled to a 20 percent vacancy increase,

          7  $162.18, the landlord is entitled to six-tenths of a

          8  percent increase for every year since the last time

          9  there was a vacancy increase or when the apartment

         10  became subject to rent stabilization 29 years in Ms.

         11  Inniss's case, 17.4 percent of her rent, $141.10,

         12  meaning that the next person who signs a lease for

         13  that apartment can legally sign a lease for

         14  $1,114.20. I think that's a huge financial incentive

         15  to landlords to opt out of Section 8, and I think

         16  that answers the question why are these long-term,

         17  upstanding rent-paying tenants losing their Section

         18  8?

         19                 This landlord stands to gain $7,278

         20  over the course of the two-year lease that is given

         21  to the next tenant in this apartment.

         22                 If Ms. Inniss didn't depend on a

         23  Section 8 subsidy, that couldn't happen because it's

         24  a rent-stabilized apartment.

         25                 If this landlord rents to another
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          2  Section 8 tenant for that rent of $1,114 and then

          3  opts out again at the end of that HAP contract, they

          4  will be entitled to another 20 percent vacancy

          5  increase.

          6                 This apartment on Sedgewick Avenue in

          7  the Bronx is only five increases away from vacancy

          8  decontrol. I think landlords, and these are not

          9  small landlords, they are 147 units in this

         10  building, I think they're very aware of a giant

         11  loophole that's been created in the rent

         12  stabilization law. If you opt out of Section 8 and

         13  you deprive a person of that federal subsidy that

         14  made that apartment affordable, you can get rid or a

         15  rent-stabilized tenant, and if you do it often

         16  enough, you can get out of rent stabilization

         17  entirely.

         18                 And I think that the comments that

         19  were made by the previous speaker who said across

         20  the country this financial discrimination is legal,

         21  is simply not true.

         22                 There are already many jurisdictions

         23  where this kind of financial discrimination is

         24  unlawful, and I think it should be unlawful here.

         25                 MS. SMITHSIMON: My name is Molly
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          2  Smithsimon and I'm the Project Director of the

          3  Tenant Advocacy Project at Community Service

          4  Society.

          5                 I want to thank the Committee for the

          6  opportunity to testify here, and I want to urge the

          7  passage of the introduction of the proposed

          8  legislation Number 178.

          9                 I'm here today to talk to you about

         10  what happens at the front end. I've received

         11  numerous calls from people who have Section 8

         12  vouchers, and who have been searching and searching

         13  for an apartment, and have found apartments within

         14  the Section 8 limit. They found apartments at rents

         15  that they can afford with their Section 8

         16  assistance, but they have not found landlords or

         17  brokers that are willing to give them access to

         18  those apartments.

         19                 And from what I have heard from

         20  hundreds of people, I believe strongly that a major

         21  motivating factor is discrimination against people

         22  receiving government assistance.

         23                 I want to talk to you about a couple

         24  of individual cases.

         25                 Now, as I said, I've gotten calls
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          2  from scores of tenants who have been trying to find

          3  an apartment to use their voucher, and those tenants

          4  have called me for help, because they have been

          5  turned away again and again when their landlord

          6  hears they have a Section 8 voucher, and they've

          7  asked me, can a landlord refuse to rent to me just

          8  because I have this government assistance.

          9                 And time and again, I've had to tell

         10  them that, yes, although I agree, it's

         11  discriminatory. There are no protections against it

         12  in New York City.

         13                 So, I feel strongly that New York

         14  City should join the nine other states and numerous

         15  other localities that have this protection for

         16  tenants.

         17                 I want to talk about a couple of

         18  individual cases. I have one client who is going to

         19  be testifying here today. Recently I received a call

         20  from a woman, Ms. Prendergast, who is assisting her

         21  mentally disabled son to locate an apartment in New

         22  York City with a Section 8 voucher.

         23                 She was trying to find an apartment

         24  near her home on the Upper East Side of Manhattan.

         25  He knew the neighborhood, she wanted to be close to
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          2  him so she could easily give him help whenever, if

          3  he needed it.

          4                 She's called numerous brokers and

          5  landlords about apartments that her son could afford

          6  with his Section 8 assistance, but she informed me

          7  that brokers have told her that they're listed

          8  Section 8 apartments were only for working Section

          9  8.

         10                 She called me asking is there a

         11  different type of Section 8 that we don't have?

         12  Because her son receives SSI income, he's not

         13  working, and he was excluded from those apartments.

         14                 Numerous other landlords turned away

         15  because they didn't want a Section 8 tenant. She

         16  hasn't been able to find any apartments her son can

         17  afford without his Section 8 voucher.

         18                 She's merely given up on the search

         19  in her neighborhood, and they have turned instead to

         20  higher poverty areas, where she thinks that she'll

         21  find less discrimination based on income.

         22                 Although she's been aggressively

         23  apartment hunting, she fears that her son's voucher

         24  will expire before she can secure him an apartment.

         25                 Tenants have also contacted me
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          2  seeking assistance with moving with a Section 8

          3  voucher. One mentally disabled young man was

          4  desperate to move out of his one-room apartment

          5  because he had no cooking facilities, and he was

          6  fearful of the other building residents.

          7                 When I asked him why he had moved

          8  into the apartment given the conditions, he told me

          9  he thought he had no other choice. He couldn't find

         10  landlords with decent apartments in neighborhoods

         11  where he felt safe who were willing to take a

         12  Section 8 voucher.

         13                 With his voucher about to expire, he

         14  had accepted it as a last resort. He now has used

         15  most of his SSI checks to buy prepared meals outside

         16  of his home. He won't be able to move until his

         17  lease term expires at the earliest in a year and a

         18  half, and will continuing suffering this hardship

         19  for that time.

         20                 The most vulnerable tenants are

         21  suffering because of the lack of this crucial

         22  protection against housing discrimination, and I

         23  would urge the City to buttress its commitment to

         24  the public policies, providing decent safe,

         25  affordable housing to low-income tenants, and pass
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          2  this proposed legislation.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 MR. LEVY: Hi. My name is Jonathan

          5  Levy. I'm an attorney with Legal Services for New

          6  York in the Bronx, and I'll make a couple of points

          7  with you here today.

          8                 First, thank you for giving us the

          9  opportunity to talk. In a minute, I'm going to

         10  introduce you to a client of mine who can tell you a

         11  little bit more about the human cost when landlords

         12  attempt to opt out of this program.

         13                 I, too, can second just anecdotally

         14  some of the discussion you've heard about people

         15  having a difficult time finding Section 8 accepting

         16  landlords. Over my years, I've been a Legal Services

         17  lawyer for seven years, from time to time you

         18  encounter people on Section 8 who, for one reason or

         19  another, have to move, the landlord wants them out,

         20  and it's a small house, or it's something where

         21  there's no right to continued occupancy and in those

         22  circumstances you usually enter an agreement that

         23  the person move out in three months or four months

         24  or six months. I have never seen a tenant who

         25  successfully lived up to one of those agreements. It
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          2  always takes them longer than that to find a

          3  participating landlord.

          4                 I think we all also know just how

          5  difficult it is to find apartments to begin with in

          6  the City.

          7                 But before all of this opt out

          8  controversy even arose, this is a point I'd like to

          9  make with you, I think we've had a problem in the

         10  Section 8 program not fulfilling its purpose, which

         11  was to give assisted tenants access to the full

         12  range of rental opportunities, and even if this

         13  opt-out issue had never come up, we would still have

         14  a problem that we've been creating sort of Section 8

         15  vouchers for ghettos where these tenants are unable

         16  to find apartments in better neighborhoods, which

         17  would give them access to better schools and better

         18  employment opportunity and so forth, which is one of

         19  the goals of the program.

         20                 So, even if there never had been this

         21  opt-out issue, I still think legislation of this

         22  nature would be very helpful in assisting these

         23  people to still live the American dream and for the

         24  Section 8 program to fulfill its purpose.

         25                 I'd like to introduce you to Ruth
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          2  Nova, who is going to tell you a little bit about

          3  what her grandmother has been going through.

          4                 MS. NOVA: My name is Ruth Nova. I

          5  have been living for in the 2515 University Avenue

          6  with my grandmother and my mother. She has been

          7  living in that building since 1981. She came here in

          8  1979, and her mother used to live there also, so she

          9  moved in her old apartment.

         10                 Since the earliest 1990s, she has

         11  been under Section 8. She depends on her SSI check,

         12  which is $612. There is no way my grandmother is

         13  going to pay $540 that the landlord wants her to pay

         14  or she is going to be evicted from the apartment.

         15                 She suffers from Alzheimer's Disease,

         16  she has a pacemaker, she also has depression. More

         17  -- all of this that she is suffering from is

         18  because of what's going on with her now.

         19                 He just told us in June last year

         20  that if she doesn't pay -- I'm sorry -- that if she

         21  doesn't pay, she's going to have to leave the

         22  apartment. And we don't want my grandmother to be

         23  with a home attendant. We have been taking care of

         24  her since she started with her diseases. And we are

         25  afraid she is going to be evicted from the apartment
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          2  if she doesn't pay. He said no, that he is not going

          3  to accept Section 8 anymore.

          4                 Since November when her lease

          5  expired, he said there is no way you're going to

          6  make me take your grandmother under Section 8, and

          7  we hardly can tell my grandmother whatever is going

          8  on with her and her apartment. She hears voices, "oh

          9  my God, they're coming to take me out of my

         10  apartment. I hear the landlord, he says he's going

         11  to take my stuff and sell them out on the street."

         12  And we don't tell her, mommy, this is what's going

         13  on because we are afraid that she's going to suffer

         14  more. She is only 67 years old, and we live with

         15  her, because there is no way that we are going to

         16  take her, live far away from her. It's easier for us

         17  to be taking care of her there, she's next to us.

         18  And he said "no." He has been returning the check,

         19  the Section 8, saying that he's not accepting, he's

         20  not going to accept it. And my grandmother, she does

         21  need help. Thank you.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you

         23  very much. I know this is a very tough time for you,

         24  and I thank you very much for coming here before the

         25  Committee to give your testimony. It's something
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          2  that's very important to us, and all of this that

          3  you're giving to us is very helpful for us to move

          4  this legislation. So, I thank you.

          5                 The final panel, Thaddeus Burch and

          6  Ann Prendergast.

          7                 You may begin, sir. Again, I ask that

          8  you try to keep the testimony as limited as

          9  possible.

         10                 Please use the microphone. Move up to

         11  the microphone.

         12                 MR. BURCH: Someone asked yesterday if

         13  I would come down here. I'm probably one of these

         14  people looking on my own, and I wish more people

         15  were in the room, because, you know, maybe what I

         16  have to say is really important,'cause it's just

         17  certain things that I haven't heard in the meeting.

         18                 I have a Section 8 thing, and he was

         19  asking about discrimination, and I have a bad leg,

         20  but I'm also sick. So, I don't bring that up,

         21  because that makes it even worse. And basically all

         22  my looking, it used to be New York Times, and they

         23  fit my rent requirements, and brokers are in front

         24  of the landlords, and most of them say, no, they

         25  don't want it. I think it's unfortunate, because a
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          2  lot of places people have done things to mess it up,

          3  and they've heard about it, and I've heard different

          4  reasons why.

          5                 One guy said he couldn't get the

          6  money because someone was sick, and he went in the

          7  hospital two months and he had to wait six months,

          8  and he's still considering me but he doesn't want to

          9  do it because of his last tenant, and then his

         10  tenant eventually died. The point is he doesn't want

         11  to do it because he had trouble with the City.

         12                 Another lady told me the tenants are

         13  the problem, in a neighborhood where she told me I

         14  shouldn't move in. So, I'm trying to come back to

         15  Manhattan, and there's certain places in Manhattan I

         16  can't go where the rents are too high. So, I go

         17  where I can go, and basically nobody wants to take

         18  it. So, I'm forced to go where I don't want to go if

         19  people are telling me it's probably not safe for you

         20  to live here. And I keep going through this. I have

         21  two people that considered me out of 75 since last

         22  September.

         23                 And then I hear the stories of other

         24  people and incentives to landlord, and I've heard

         25  about 80/20s, which are just great incentives to the
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          2  people building the buildings and they get some huge

          3  break in the cost of the building for taxes. But I

          4  can't do that because my income, it's basically SSI,

          5  I have like seven or eight-thousand a year, my

          6  parents can't support me. And all these brokers that

          7  I've asked, some of them have said, oh, there's too

          8  much paperwork. So, if they're willing to accept it,

          9  they don't want to do the paperwork, and then along

         10  comes an inspection, and so they've all heard this

         11  and they don't want to do it, because maybe their

         12  place is going to get inspected, and they'll turn it

         13  down, and they'll have some problems for them

         14  economically.

         15                 So, overall I'm here saying this is

         16  what I'm going through, and I was told by Housing

         17  Authority that I have to do it this year, otherwise

         18  I can't do it.

         19                 So there's a time constraint on me

         20  doing this, and basically I can't go where I want.

         21  And part of just listening to this meeting, I think,

         22  well, incentives for landlords, some of them ought

         23  to be required to do it, because they make money.

         24  80/20 has so low income people, not as low as me.

         25  But eventually what it means, if all these people
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          2  lose places and go to projects, which never seem to

          3  work anywhere, because people feel corraled and

          4  labeled, and you're poor, and you're in a place

          5  where everybody knows you have problems. You're not

          6  a success.

          7                 And a lot of landlords make money.

          8  They make more money than people in the building.

          9  So, my point is, all of these brokers that are in

         10  front of the landlords that I talk to say, well, the

         11  landlord doesn't want that. I can't get to the

         12  landlord, which is who I need to get to.

         13                 And I think at some point maybe it

         14  ought to be required, but to the point where the

         15  City would turn around, well, if it's a bad tenant

         16  and they are troubled, we'll get them out. It will

         17  be our problem and you won't have to take them to

         18  court.

         19                 These are just suggestions I heard

         20  from all in the room outside of my testimony, but I

         21  guess it's not a good problem, and I'm one that's

         22  saying I go out and most people say, no, we don't

         23  want that, so I look at different neighborhoods

         24  where I shouldn't live. And lots of rents in my

         25  neighborhood are good, and the brokers are standing
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          2  in front of the landlords, and like I told you, a

          3  lot of them want to do it because they can get more

          4  money. Some of them have rent stabilization so they

          5  can't go down. The maximum for me I believe is a

          6  single room, so I'm looking for nothing big, I don't

          7  have a family. You know 8 -- what is it $870? Is it

          8  8 or 9, I forget.

          9                 MS. PRENDERGAST: It's 878.

         10                 MR. BURCH: But there are places. And

         11  the one thing I heard, I asked these people, I said,

         12  well, how come? They said they want 40, 50 times the

         13  rent. And that's a real quota.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: If you

         15  could sum up, because I want to let the --

         16                 MR. BURCH: Well, that's, I guess,

         17  summing up. I'm telling my story. But one thing all

         18  of these brokers say is I have to have 50 or 60,000

         19  dollars, and I think at some point they don't want

         20  anyone with that income in, because the reputation

         21  of people who have had that income. But the problem

         22  is everybody like me gets forced somewhere else

         23  where life is really bad. And there's a lot of

         24  people that won't do it, that in my opinion should

         25  do it. They have a building, they're making X amount
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          2  of money, they should maybe take one or two people

          3  and help them out 'cause they're already making

          4  money, if they have, you know, 20, 50 apartments,

          5  and then someone like me or anybody else that's

          6  living somewhere that they're really afraid to live

          7  could say, hey, I feel a little more human, life

          8  wasn't that good. This is a little better, thank

          9  you. You know, you get pride and dignity when you go

         10  to the worst places, because it's dangerous to say

         11  the least. People are angry, there's drugs, there's

         12  all kinds of stuff you get subject to. And I think

         13  some of this whole economic thing, the real key

         14  thing is they said 40 or 50 times the rent all over

         15  New York or a decent part of Brooklyn, Manhattan,

         16  except Spanish Harlem and Washington Heights and

         17  places like that.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank

         19  you.

         20                 MR. BURCH: And --

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank

         22  you. That's helpful.

         23                 MR. BURCH: And I hope this --

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: That's

         25  helpful.
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          2                 MR. BURCH: -- Will help somebody

          3  along the way.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: That's

          5  helpful.

          6                 MR. BURCH: I'm a client that's gone

          7  out, and you know.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: No, we

          9  understand. And we thank you for your testimony.

         10                 MR. BURCH: There's lots of forms of

         11  discrimination, I'm saying, when that guy that asked

         12  before. There's economics, I hide the fact that I've

         13  been sick. That's really bad so I avoid that.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Right.

         15                 MR. BURCH: But I still have the

         16  disability and I can prove it.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: I

         18  understand. I hate to rush, it's just that we have

         19  to leave the room.

         20                 MR. BURCH: I understand. I appreciate

         21  your being here. And maybe I wasn't that great

         22  elaborating.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: No, you

         24  were.

         25                 MR. BURCH: I have trouble thinking,
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          2  and I heard things that I wasn't going to even talk

          3  about, but enough housing projects are just not

          4  good.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Right.

          6                 MR. BURCH: And people like me, or all

          7  these other people, are going to get shoved out of

          8  the places they live, because it becomes unbearable

          9  to try and go through that, so they have to leave

         10  their home.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Okay.

         12                 We're going to start with Ann

         13  Prendergast now.

         14                 MR. BURCH: Thank you. I appreciate

         15  it.

         16                 MR. PRENDERGAST: Thadd is my son.

         17  I've had him up here. He lives in Charlottesville,

         18  and he's transferring a Section 8 voucher up here.

         19  So, for two six-week visits during which we looked

         20  for housing, he looked at places, the elevator men

         21  in our building gave him names of realtors, he

         22  looked at a place accepting Section 8 vouchers that

         23  was up in the Bronx on De Kalb Avenue, I don't know

         24  where the area was, but I know when he came back he

         25  said the apartment was very nice, but he freaked out
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          2  because of the neighborhood and the fact that he was

          3  uncomfortable there. We, in that period of those two

          4  six-weeks visits, perhaps called maybe 50, 60

          5  different places from Craig's list and from the New

          6  York Times. Universally we were turned away whenever

          7  we came to a broker, for any place on the Upper East

          8  Side, or in our neighborhood.

          9                 He went   back in January and I

         10  continued because he was so depressed. When he went

         11  back I thought he was really possibly thinking of

         12  suicide. I called each week trying to get a place

         13  for him to live. I called two realtors. These are

         14  ones that Molly identified or spoke of, where when I

         15  called them they said they would accept Section --

         16  working vouchers for Section 8, and I didn't know

         17  what a working voucher was, and that is in fact how

         18  I got in touch with Molly, that there is no such

         19  thing as a working voucher, but basically they would

         20  accept somebody that was working and not otherwise.

         21                 Since then, in the neighborhood there

         22  are in the Upper East Side apartments that have

         23  qualified for his rent. I have two that I found this

         24  week, one on 77th Street for 950, but the person

         25  hasn't gotten back to me. And one on East 95th
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          2  Street, which I didn't get, which was 850, and the

          3  broker there would not listen to a Section 8

          4  voucher.

          5                 I have had apartments at Third Avenue

          6  and Lexington Avenue for 800 some dollars, and that

          7  landlord absolutely refused to talk to me about a

          8  Section 8 voucher.

          9                 We got an apartment. We have a

         10  situation where we may have an apartment. The

         11  landlord liked me and accepted with reluctance the

         12  Section 8 voucher, but the apartment, the person

         13  that is leaving the apartment changed his mind, so

         14  we don't know if this is going to become available.

         15                 On April 19th, when my son came up

         16  here for his first Section 8 housing hearing, we

         17  learned that the clock had started ticking, he has

         18  to find housing by September 12th or he loses his

         19  voucher entirely.

         20                 In the two weeks since that time I've

         21  checked apartments on East 80s for a 1090 apartment

         22  he talked about where we had the landlord, I offered

         23  the landlord money and said that I would give him an

         24  escrow account so that if the Section 8, if there

         25  should be a problem he would have three-months rent
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          2  in escrow so he wouldn't lose any money, and I

          3  offered to do all of the running around and

          4  paperwork and housing contacting to get things and

          5  to pay the money that would be involved between his

          6  accepting Thadd as a tenant, and the voucher coming

          7  through and the money coming through, that I would

          8  pay the rent during that time, but that was not

          9  sufficient to secure this apartment, apparently.

         10                 And we have another apartment, which

         11  was 152nd Street. There the man next door told Thadd

         12  that he didn't want to live there, but it's an

         13  architect-designed apartment, it's very nice, it's

         14  ground floor, but Thadd and I agree that if we walk

         15  through a neighborhood and I feel uncomfortable in

         16  it, it's probably in it, it's probably not a

         17  neighborhood that he would feel comfortable in, and

         18  that was the neighborhood where he just asked people

         19  for a light, he needed a cigarette, and there was,

         20  you know, definite hostility. So, we felt

         21  uncomfortable, though the landlord would accept the

         22  Section 8, he could apparently still get that

         23  apartment but probably we'll turn it down because of

         24  the high level of discomfort he has with that area.

         25                 But I can say that we've looked at
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          2  perhaps 75 to 100 apartments. Universally brokers

          3  turn us down. If we get an owner, sometimes owners

          4  will accept, sometimes not. There was an owner on

          5  116th Street who wouldn't even consider a Section 8,

          6  and I just go by each week what's on Craig's list

          7  and what's on the New York Times, and what my

          8  friends, who is also helping us look, we find, you

          9  know, any kind of listings, and listings from the

         10  street where I've seen "For Rent" signs on

         11  apartments, I've taken the numbers down and have

         12  called those places, and they have turned us down

         13  universally as well.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: It's a

         15  very horrible catch-22.

         16                 Again, I must reiterate to all of you

         17  how important your testimony is, and I thank you for

         18  --

         19                 MS. PRENDERGAST: May I just add one

         20  thing?

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Yes.

         22                 MS. PRENDERGAST: That Thadd has 14

         23  years of living where he's been living in a

         24  completely stable situation. His rent has been paid

         25  each month and he's never had any difficulty with a
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          2  lady who is a fairly difficult landlady. So, he

          3  would make an agreeable and cooperative tenant, and

          4  I still, with help, and with offering landlords

          5  money, have not been any to secure a place for him.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: It is a

          7  very destabilizing thing. But, again, I thank you

          8  both for testifying here before the Committee, and

          9  it's going to be very helpful with us as we move the

         10  legislation. So, thank you.

         11                 MS. PRENDERGAST: You're welcome.

         12                 MR. BURCH: Thank you for having us.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: At this

         14  point I'd like to thank everyone for coming by for

         15  this hearing, and with this, I will adjourn.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 12:15 p.m.)
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